U.S. DISTRICT COu
N.D. OF N.Y.

ORIGINAL FILEL

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT ' APR 2 0 2010
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

LAWRENCE K. BAERMAN, CLER:

ALBANY
- SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Plﬂiﬂf% H

MCGINN, SMITH & CO,, INC.;

MCGINN, SMITH ADVISORS LLCG;

MCGINN, SMITH CAPITAL HOLDINGS CORP.;

FIRST ADVISORY INCOME NOTES, LLC;

FIRST EXCELSIOR INCOME NOTES, LLC;

FIRST INDEPENDENT INCOME NOTES, LLC; : -
THIRD ALBANY INCOME NOTES, LLC; : 3 g

TIMOTHY M. MCGINN; AND
DAVID L. SMITH,
_ quen&a’nts, and
LYNN A. SMITH,
Relief Defendant.
ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE,

TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER, -
AND ORDER FREEZING ASSETS AND GRANTING OTHER RELIEF

On the Application of Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission™) _
for an Order:

(1) directing defendants McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc. (“MS & Co.”); McGinn, Smith
| Advisors LLC (“MS Advisors™); McGinn, Smith Cgpital Ho]din_gs Corp. (“MS Capital™); First
Advisory Income Notés, LLC (“FA]N”); First Excelsior Income Notes, LLC (“FEI]\T”).; First
Independent Income Notes, LLC (“FIIN™); Third Albany Income Notes, LLC (“TAIN™);
Timothy M. McGinn; David L. Smith (colleetively, the “Defendants”) to show cause why an

Order should not be entered, pending a final disposition of thfs action:




(a)  preliminarily enjbining: |
6)) MS & Co., MS Capital, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, McGinn and
Smith from violating: Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act of

1933 (“Securities Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77¢(c); |

(i)  MS & Co., MS Advisors, MS Capital, McGinn and Smith from
violating Séction 17(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7;?q(a)
and Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(“Exchange Act”), iS U.S.C. §- 78j(b) and Exchange Act Rule 10b-
5 thereunder, 17 CF.R. § 240.10b-5 ,
(i) - MS & Co., MS Advisors, McGinn and Sniith from violating
| Sections 206(1), 206(2), and 206(4) of the Tnvestment Advisers
- Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”), 15 U.S.C.. §§ 80b-6(1) and (2), and
Rule 206(4)-8 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §275.206(4)-é;
@iv) MS & Co. from violating Section 15(c)(1)(A) of the Exchange Act,
‘ 15 U.S.C.-§ 78(0)(1), and Smith anci McGinn from aiding and
abetting this violation; and,

(v)  FAIN, FEIN, F{[INIand TAIN from violating Section 7(a) of the
Investment Compémy Act 0f 1940 (“Company Act”), 15 US.C.§
80a-7.

(b)  freezing the Defendaﬁts’ and Lynn Smith’s (the “Relief Defendant™)
assets;
()  directing McGinn and Smith (the “Individual Defendants™) to provide

verified accountings for themselves and MS & Co., MS Advisors, MS




(d)

(©

Capital, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN and TAIN (the “Entity Defendants”), and the
Relief Defcndant to provide a verified accountiﬁg for herself;

appointing a receiver for the Entity Defendants and all other entities
McGinn and/or Smith control or have an owuership interest m
(collectively the “MS Entities”); and

prohibiting the destruction, alteration or concealment of documents

(2)  pending adjudication of the foregoing, an Order:

(@)

(b)

©

CY

©®

®

temporarily restraining the Defendants from violating the aforementioned
statutes aﬁd rules;

freezing the Defendants’ and Relief Defendant’s assets;

directiﬁg each of the Individual Defendants to immediately provide the
verified accounts for themselves and th;e Entity Defendants, and the Relief
Defendant to provide the verified accounts for herself:

appointing a temporary receiver for the MS Entitiés;

prohibiting the destruction, alteration or concealment of documents by the
Defendants; and
providing that the parties may take expedited discovery in prebaration for

a preliminary injunction hearing on this Order to Show Cause.

This Court has considered: (1) the Complaint filed by the Commission, dated April 20,

2010; (2) the Declaration of Israel Maya, executed on April 20, 2010, and the exhibits thereto;

(3) the Declaration of Lara Shalov Mehraban, executed on April 20, 2010, and the exhibits

thereto; and (4) the memorandum of law in support of Plaintiff Commission’s application, dated

April 20, 2010.




Based upon the foregoing documents, the Court finds that a proper showing, as required
byISection 20(b) df the Securities Act, Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act, Section 209(d) of the
Advisers Act, and Section 42(d) of the Company Act, has been made for the relief granted
herein, for the following reasons:

1. Itappears from the evidence presented that, unless temporarily restrained, (1)
Defendant MS & Co. has violated, and will continue to violate, Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the
Securities Act, Section 17(a) of the Secuﬁties Act, Secﬁon. 10(b) of ’Fhe Exchange Act and
Exchénge Act and Rule 10b-5, Section 206(1), 206(2), and 206(4) of the Advisers Act and
Adviser Act Rule 1;06(4)—8, and Secti(.m 15(c)(a)(1) of the Exchange Act; (2) Defendant MS
Advisors has violated,.and Iwi]l continﬁe to violate, Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, Section
10(b) of the Exchange Act and Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5, Section 206( 1), 206(2), and
206(4) of the Advise;rs Act and Adviser Act Rule 206(4)-8; (3) Defendant MS Capital has
violated, and wﬂl continuz;, to violate, Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act, Section 17(a)
of the Securities Act, Section 10(b) of the Exchange _Act and Exchange Act and Rule 10b—5;.(4)
Defendants FAIN, FEIN, FIIN and TAIN have violated, and will continue to violate, Section
7(a) o.f the Company Act; and (5) Defendants McGinn and Smith have violated, and will
continue to violate Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act, Section i?(a) of the Securities
Act, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5, and Section 206(1),

206(2), and 206(4) of the Advisers Act and Adviser Act Rule 206(4)-8, and Defendz;ntls_ McGinn
and Smith have aided and abetted, and will continue to aid and abet MS & Co.’s violation of
Section 15(c)(a)(1) of the Exchange Act.

2. It appears that the Defendants and Relief Defendant may attempt to dissipate,

deplete, or transfer from the jurisdiction of this Court, funds, property and other assets that could




‘be subject to an order of disgorgement or an order imposing civil penalties. It appear§ that an
order freezing the Defendants’ and Relief Defendant’s assets, as specified herein, is necessary ;[o
preserve the sratus'guo, to protect investors and clients of the Defendants from further transfers
of funds and misappropriation, to protect this Court’s ability to award equitable-relief in the form
of disgorgement of illegal profits from fraud and civil penalties, and to preserve the Court’s |
ability to approve a fair distribution for victims of the fraud.

3. It appears that an order requiring each of the Individual_ Defendauts and Relief
Defendant to Iprovide a verified accounting of their assets, money and property held directly or
indirectly by the Defendants and Relief Défendant, or by others for the direct and indirect
beneficial intf;rcst of the Defendants and Relief Defendant, is necessary to effectuate and ensure
compliance with the freeze imposed on the Defendants’ and Relief Defendant’s assets. |

4. It appears that the Defendants may attempt to déstroy, alter or conceal documents.

5 It appears that the appointment of a receiver for the MS Entities is necessary to (i)
preserve the status quo; (ii) ascertain the extent of commingling of funds among the MS Entities;
(iii) ascertain the true financial condition of the MS Entities and the disp.osition of investor
funds; (iv) prevent further dissipation of the property and assets of the MS Entities; (v) prevent
the encumbrance.or disposal of property or assets of the MS Entities and ﬁe investors; (vi)
préserve the books, records and documents of the MS Entities; (vii) be ayailable to respond to
investor inquiries; (Vviii) protect mvestors’ assets; and (ix) determine whether-the MS Eptities

should undertake bankruptcy filings.

6. Good and sufficient reasons have been shown why procedure other than by notice
of motion is necessary.
7 This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action and over the




Defendants and Relief Defendant, and venue properly lies in this District. |

NOW, THEREFORE,

I

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Defendants show cause, if there be any, to this

Courtat 3:00 | . on the irﬁ\day of H&ﬂa 2010, in%t-u:')m _(Q_ of the
James T. Foley United S;Lates Courthouse, 445 Broadway, Albany, NY 12207-2924, why this
Court should not enter an t)rder pursuant to Rule 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure,
Section 20 of the Securities Act, and Section 21 of the Exchange Act, Section 209(d) of the

Advisers Act, and Section 42 of the Company Act preliminarily enjoining:

M

@

®

4)

®)

MS & Co., MS Capital, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, McGinn and Smith from
violating Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act, 15U.S.C. §§ 77¢e(a) and
77e(c);

MS & Co., MS Ad,vis‘ors, MS Capital, McGinn and Smith from violating Section

17(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a) and Section 10(b) of the Exchange

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §

240.10b-5; : ' |

MS & Co., MS Advisors, McGinn and Smith from violating .Secﬁons 206(1),
206(2), and 206(4) of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1) and (2), and Rule |
206(4)-8 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §275.206(4)-8;

MS & Co., from violating Section 15(c)(1)(A) of the Exchange Act, 15U.S.C. §
78(0)(1), and Smith and McGinn from aiding and abetting this violation; and,
f‘A]N ; FE]N, FIIN and TAIN from violating Section 7(a) of the Company Act, 15

U.S.C. § 80a-7.



IL.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Defendants show cause at that time why this
Court should not also enter an Order direct_ing that, pending a final disposition of this action, the
Defendants,. the Relief Defendant, and each of their financial and b?okerage institutions, officers,
agents, servants, employees, attorneys-in-fact, and those persons in ac':tive cc;ncert or
participation with them who receive actual notice of such Order by personal service, facsimile

service or otherwise, and each of them, hold and retain within their control, and otherwise

prevent, any withdrawal, transfer, pledge, encumbrance, assignment, dissipation, concealment or

other disposal of any assets, funds, or other property (including money, real or personal property,

securities, commodities, choses iu‘ action or other property of any kind whatsoever) of, held by,
or under the direct or indirect control of the Defendants and Relief Defendant, including but not
limited to, the MS Entities, including but not limited to, those entities listed on Exhibit A,
whether held in any of their names or for any of their direct or indirect beneficial interest
wherever situated, in whatever form such assets may presently exist and wherever located within
the territorial jurisdiction of the United States courts, and directing each of the financial or
brokerage institutions, debtors and bailees, or any other person or entity holding such assets,
funds or other pr;)perty of the Defendants and Relief Defendant to hold or retain within its or his
control and prohibit the withdrawal, removal, transfer or other disposal of any such assets, funds
or other properties including but not limited to, all assets, funds, or other properties held in the
accounts listed on Exhi.bit B, as well as each real estate parcel owned directly or .il;direct]y by the
MS Entities, including but not limited to, those entities li-sted on Exhibit A.
1.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Defendants show cause at that time why this




" Court should not also enter an Order enjoining and restraining them, and any person or entity
acting at their direction or on their behalf, or any other person, from destroying, altering,
concealing or otherwise interfering with the access of Plaintiff Commission and the receiver to
any and all documents, books and records, that are in the possession, custody or coﬁtrol of the
Defendants, and each of their officers, agents, employe;as, servants, accountants, financial or
- brokerage institutions, attorneys-in-fact, subsidiaries, affiliates, predecessors, successors an&
related entities, including but not limited to, the MS Entities, including but not limited to; those
entities listed on Exhibit A, that refer, reflect or relate to the allegations in the Complaint,
including, without limitation, documents, books, and records referring, reflecting or relating to
the Defendants’ finances or business operations.
IV.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Defendaﬁts show cause at that time why this
Court should not also enter an Order directing each of the Individual Defendants to serve upon
Plaintiff Commission, within three (3) business days, or within such extension of time as the
Commission agreés to, a verified written accounting each signed by Defendants McGinn and
Smith and also signed by the officer or employees of the Entity Defendants who are most
knowledgeable about the assets, liabilities and general financial condition of each of the
Defendants, and verified accountings signed by each of the Individual Defendants and the Relief
Defendant identifying their own assets, liabilities and general financial condition, if any, undef
penalty of perjury. Each of thg Defendants and Relief Defendant shall serve such sworn updated
written accountings by hand delivery, facsimile transmission to (212) 336-1324 or overnight
courier service on the Commissiop’s counsel, David Stoelting, Esq., Securities and Exchange

Commission, 3 World Financial Center, New York, NY 10281.




Y.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Individual Defendants and Relief Defendant shall
file with the Court and serve on the Commission, within three (3) business days following
service of this Order, a list of all accounts at all banks, brokerage firms or financial institutions
(inciudi.ng the name pf the financial institution and the name and number on the account), tax
identification numbers, telephone or facsimile transmission numbers (including numbers of
pagers and mobile telephones), electronic mail addresses, World Wide Web sites or Universal
Records Llocators, Internet bulléﬁn board sites, online intleractive conversational spaces or chat

" rooms, Internet or electronic mail service providers, street addresse;.;, postal box numbers,. safety
deposit boxes, and storage facilities used or maintain_ed by them or under their direct or indirect
control, at any time from January 1, 2005 to the present including but not limited to information
éonceming the MS Entities, includiﬁg but not limited to, those entities listed on Exhibit A.

| VL

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Defendants show cause at that time why this
Court sﬁould not also enter an Order appointing or continuing the appointment of a receiver for
the MS Entities and all entities they control or have an ownership interest in including but not
limited to, those entities listed on Exhibit A, to (i) preserve the status quo, (ii) ascertain the
extent of commingling of funds among the MS Entities; (iii) ascertain the true financial condition
of the MS Entities and the disposition of investor funds; (iv) prevent further dissipation of the
property and assets of the MS Entities and all entities they control or have an ownership iﬁtarest
in; (v) prevent the encumbrance or disposal of property or assets of the MS Entities and the
investors; (vi) preserve the books, records anc_l documents of the MS Entities;) (vii) be available

to respond to investor inquiries; (viii) protect the assets of the MS Entities from further

e




dissipation; and (ix) determine whether the MS Entities should undertake bankruptcy filings.

To effectuate the foregoing, the receiver would be empowered to:

(@

(®)

©

@

(@

®

Take and retain immediate possession and control of all of the assets and
property, and all books, records and documents of the MS Entities including but
not limited to, the entities listed on Exhibit A, and the rights and powers of it with
respect thereto including the powers set forth in the management agreemenfs and
LLC agreements and/or operating agreements applicable to any LLCs or other
property or entities owned or controlled by the Defendants; '

Have exclusive control of, and be ma;le the sole authox:ized signatory for, all
accounts at any bank, brokerage firm or financial institution that has possession or

control of any assets or funds of the MS Entities including but not limited to, the

' entities listed on Exhibit A;

Pay from available funds necessary business expenses required to preserve the

assets and property of the MS Entities including but not limited to, the entities

~ listed on Exhibit A, including the books, records, and documents of the MS

Entities and all entities they control or have an ownership interest in,

notwithstanding the asset freeze imposed by paragraph II, above;

Take preliminary steps to locate assets that may have been conveyed to third

parties or otherwise concealed;

Take preliminary steps to ascertain the disposition and use of funds obtained by
the Defendants resulting from the sale of securities issued by MS Entities
including but not limited to, f.hc entities listed on Exhibit A;

Engage and employ ;c;ersons, including accountants, attorneys and experts, o

10




assist in the carrying out of the recciv{er’s duties and responsibilities hereunder;
(€)  Reportto the Court and the parties within 45 days from the date of the entry of

thjs. Order, subject to such reasonable extensions as the Court may grant, the
following infonnatién:

1. All assets, money, funds, securities, and real or personal property tizen
held directly or indirectly by or for the benefit of the MS Entities and all entities
they control or have an ownership interest in, including but not limited to, real
prol;erty, bank accounts, brokerage accounts, investments, business interests,
personal property, wherever situated, identifying and describing each asset, its
current locaﬁon and value;

2. A list of secured creditors and other financial institutions with an interest
in the receivership assets;

3 To the extent practicable, a list of investors in the MS Entities including
but not limited to, the entities listed on Exhibit A;

(h)  The receiver’s preliminary p]a'n for the administration of the assets of the
receiversﬁip, including a recommendation regarding whether bankruptcy cases
should be filed for all of a poﬁioﬁ of the assets subject to the receivership and a
recommendation whether litigation against third parties should be commenced on
a contingent fee basis to recover assets for the benefit of the receivership.
| VIL
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pending a hearing and determination of the
Commission’s Application for Preliminary Injunction, MS & Co., MS Capital, FAIN, FEIN,

FIIN, TAIN, McGinn and Smith and each of thein, their agents, servants, employees, and

11



attorneys-in-fact, and those persons in active concert or participation with them whp receive
actual notice of this Order by personal service, facsimile service, or otherwise, zire- temporarily
restrained ﬁom, directly or indjrécﬂy, singly or in concert, in the offer or sale of any security, by
use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or
by use of the mails to offer or sell securities through the use or medium of a prospectus or
otherwise when no registrations statement has been filed or is in effect as to such securities and
when no Iexe'mption from registration is available in violation of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the
Securities Act. |

VIIL .

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pending a hearing and determination of the
Commission’s Application for Preliminary Injunction, MS & Co., MS Advisors, MS Capital, and
qach of their ﬁﬁancial and brokerage institutions, ofﬁéers, agents, servants, employees,‘
a&orney&h—fact, and those persons in active concert or participation with them and all other
persons or entities who receive ac;tuai notice of such Order by personal service, facsimile service
or otherwise, and each of them, are temporarily restrained from violating, directly or indirectly,
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder,
17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, by using any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the
mails, or df any facility of any national securities exchange, in connection with the purchase or
sale of any security:

(a) to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,
(b)  to make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances

under which they were made, not misleading; or

12



(c)  toengage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or would
operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person.
IX.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pending a hearing and determination of the
Commission’s Application for Preliminary Injunction, MS & Co., MS Advisors, MS Capital, and
each of their financial and brokerage institutions, officers, agents, servants, employees,
attorneys-in-fact, and those persons in active concert or partici.pation with them and a!l other
persons or entities who receive actual notice of such Order by personal service, facsimile s.ervice
or otherwise, and each of them, who receive actual notice of this Order by personal service,

- facsimile ser.vice, or otherwise, are temporarily restrained from violating Section 17(a) of the
Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a), in the offer or sale of any security by the use of any means or
instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or by use of the mails,
directly ;_)r indirectly:

()  to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud;
(b) to obtain money or property by means of any untrue statement of a material fact
. or any omission of a material fact necessary in order to make the stateménts
made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, noi
misléading; or
(c) to engage in any transaction, practice, of course of business which operates or
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchaser. |
X.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pending a hearing and determination of the

Commission’s Application for Preliminary Injunction, MS & Co.; and each of its officers,

13




agents, servants, employees, attomeys—in—fact, and those persons in active concert or
participation with them ar_1d all other persons or entities who receive actual notice of such Order
by pe?sonal service, facsimile service or otherwise, and each of them, who regeive actual notice
of this Order by personal service, facsimile service, or otherwise, are temporarily restrained from
violating Section 15(c) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78(0)(c), and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-3, by
while acting as a broker or dealer, difecﬂy or indirectly, making use of the mails or any
instrumentality of interstate commerce, or any facility of any national securities exchange, to
effect any transaction in, ﬁr to induce or attempt t6 induce the purchase or sale of any security
otherwise than on a national exchange of which it is 2 member, by means of any manipulative,
deceptive or other fraudulent device or contrivance, or fo .use or employ, in connection with the
purchhse or sale of any security otherwise than on a national securities exchange, any act,
practice, or course of business defined by the Commission to be included within tﬁe term
“manipulative, deceptive or other fraudulent device or contrivance” as such term is used in
Section 15(c)(1) of the Exchange Act.

XI.

- ITIS FURTHER ORDERED that, pending a hearing and determination of the
Com:nission;s Application for Preliminary Injunction, the Individual Defendants, and each of
their financial and brokerage institutions, officers, agents, servants, employees, attomeys-in—fabt,
and those persons in active concert or participation with them and all other persons or entities
who receive actual notice of sﬁch Order by personal service, facsimile service or otherwise, and
each of them, who receive actual notice of this Order by personal service, facsimile service, or
otherwise, are tcmﬁora:ily restrained from aiding and abetting any broker’s or dealer’s violations

of Section 15(c) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78(0)((:), by providing substantial assistance

14




to an individual or entity, which, while acting as a broker or dealer, directly or indirectly, makes
use of the mails or any instrumentality of interstate commerce, or any facility of any national
~ securities exchange, to effect any transaction in, or to induce or attempt to iﬁducc the purchase or
sale of any security otherwise than on a national exchange of which it is a member, by means of
-any manipulative, deceptive or other fraudulent device or cox;tﬁvance, or to use or employ, in
connection with the purchase or sale of any scf;urity otherwise than on a national securities
exchange, any act, practice, or course of business defined by the Commission to be included
within the term “manipulative, deceptive or other frandulent device or contrivance” as such term
is used in Section 15(c)(1) of the Exchange Act.
XII.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that pending a hearing and determination of the
~ Commission’s Application for Preliminary Injunction, MS & Co., MS Advisors and each of their
officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys-in-fact, and those ﬁcrsous in active concert or
participation with them and all other pérsons or entities who receive actual notice of such Order
by personal service, facsimile service or .oﬂlerwise, and each of them, who receive actual notice
of this Order by personal service, facsimile service, or otherwise, are temporarily restrained from
violating Sections 206(1), 206(2) and 206(4) of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1) .and 2),
ahd Rule 206(4)-8 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §275.206(4)-8, while acting as an investment advisor,
by the use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, directly or
indirectly to employ any device, scheme or artifice to defraud any client or prospective client; to
engage in any transaction, practice or course of business which operates as a fraud or deceit upon
any client or prospective cliént; to engage in any act, practice, or course of business which is

fraudulent, deceptive, or manipulative.

15




XTI1.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pending a hearing and determination of the
Commission’s Application for Preliminary Injunction, FAIN, FE]i\I, FIIN, and TAIN and each of
their officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys-in-fact, and those persons in active concert
or participation with them and all other persons or entities who receive actual notice of such
Order by personal service, facsimile service or otherwise, and each of them, who receive actual
notice of this Order by personal service, facsimile service, or otherwise, are temporarily
restrajﬁed from violating Section 7(a) of the Company Act, 15 U.S.C. § -80a—’?,‘whj.le acting as an
investment company, shall directly or indirectly, offer for sale, sell, or deliver after sale, by the
use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, any security or any
interest in a security, whether the issuer of such security is such investment compaﬁy or another
person; or offer for sale, sell, or deliver after sale any such security or interest, haviﬁg reason 1;0
believe that such security or interest will be made the subject of a public offering by use of the
1ﬁajls or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce; purchase, redeem, retire, or
otherwise acquire or attempt to acquire, by use of the meals or any means or instrumentality of
interstate commerce, any security or any interest in a security, whether the issuer of such security
is such investment company or another person; control any inﬁes‘anent company which does any
of the acts enumerated above; engage in any business in interstate commerce; or control any

company which is engaged in any business in interstate commerce.
XIV.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pending a hearing and determination of the

- Commission's Application for a Preliminary Injunction, the Defendants, and each of their
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financial and brokerage institutions, officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys-in-fact, and
those persons in active concert or participation with them and all other persons or entities who
‘rcceive actual notice of such Order by personal service, facsimile service or otherwise, and each
of them, hold and retain within their control, and otherwise prevent, any withdrawal, transfer,
pledge, eﬁcumbrance, assi gnment, dissipation, concealment or other dispcljsal of any assets,
funds, or other property (including money, real or personal property, securities, commodities,
choses in action or other property of any kind whatsoever) of, held by, or under the direct or
indirect control of the Defendants, including but not limited to, entities owned or controlled by,
related to, or associated or affiliated with the MS Entities including but not limited to, those
entities I_isted_ on Exhibit A, whether held in any of heir names or for any of their direct or
indirect beneficial intérest wherever situated, in whatever form such assets may presently exist
and wherever located within the territorial jurisdiction of the United Ste-ltes courts, and directing
each of the financial or brokerage institutions, debtors and bailees, or any other person or entity
holding such assets, funds or other property of the Defendants to hold or retain within its or his
control and prohibit the withdrawal, removal, transfer or other disposal of any such assets, funds
or other properties including but not limited to,' all assets, funds, or other properties held in the
accounts listed in Exhibt B, as well- as each real estate parcel owned directly or indirectly by the
MS Entities including but not limited to, those entities listed on Exhibit A.
| XV.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pending a hearing and deter:ﬁination of the

Commission’s Application for a Preliminary Injunction, the Defendants, any person or entity
acting at their direction or on their behalf, and any other third party including but not limited to

any investor, be and hereby are enjoined and restrained from destroying, altering, concealing or
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‘otherwise mterfeﬁng with the access of Plaintiff Commission and the receiver to any and all
documents, books, and records that are in the possession, custody or control of the Defendants
and each of their respective officers, agents, employees, servants, act:ounfants_, financial or
brokerage institutions, or attorneys-in-fact, sﬁbsidiaries, affiliates, predecessors, successors and
related entities, including but not limited to, the MS Entities, that refer, reflect or relate to the
allegations in the 'Complaint, including, without limitation, documents, books and records
‘referring, rcﬂectir;g or relati.ng' to the Defendants’ finances or business operations, or the offer,
' purchase or sale of securities and the use of proceeds therefrom; and (2) ordered to provide all
reasonable cooperation to the receiver in carrying out his duties set forth herein.
XVI.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pending 2 hearing and determination of the
Commission's Application for a Preliminary Injunction, each of the Defendants shall file with
this Court and serve upon Plaintiff Commission, within three (3) business days, or within such
extension of time as the Commission agrees to, a verified written accounting signed by each of
the Individual Defendants, and the officers or emplbyees of the MS Entities who are most
knowledgeable about the assets, liabilities and general financial condition of t_he each of the
Defendants, if any, under penalty of perjury, of: '

(1) All assets, liabilities and prbperty curreﬁtly held, directly or indirec':tly,l by or for
the benefit of each Defendant, i_ﬁclgding, without limjtatio‘u, bank accounts,
brokerage accounts, investments, business interests, loans, lines of credit, and real
and personal property wherever situated, describing each asset and liability, its
current location and amount;

2) All money, property, assets and income received by each such Defendant for his

18




direct or indirect benefit from the other Defendants, at any time from January 1,

2005 through the date of such accounting, describing the amount, disposition and

current location of each of the items listed;

3) The names and last I{IIIUWH addresses of all bailees, debtors, and other persons and
entities ﬁat currently are holding the assets, funds or property of each Defendant;
and |

(4)  All assets, funds, securities and real or personal property invested by each such .
Defendant, or any other person controlled by them, and the ciisposition of such
assets, funds, sé:curiﬁes, real or personal property.
Each Individual Defendant and the officers or employees of the Entity Defendants who are most
knowledgeable about the assets, }iatlai]ities and general fmar._lciél- condition of the Defendants, if
any, shall verify the Entity Defendant’s accounting and serve such swom stafements of as#et
identifying information by hand delivery, facsimile transmission to (212) 336—11324 or overnight
courier service on the Commission’s counsel, David Stﬁe]ting, Esq;, Sccuntles and Exchange
Connpjssion, 3 ' World Financial Center, New York, NY 10281. Each of the Individual
Defendants is required to provide the Commission with ari accounting for his own personal
assets, liabilities and general financial condition, and also provide an accounting for each of the
Entity Defendants. I_'he Relief Defendant is required to providé the Commission with an

accounting for her own personal assets, liabilities anid general financial condition.
XVII.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Willicm 3. Deown , pending further

order of this Court, be and hereby is appointed fo act as receiver for the MS Entities including

8,




but not limited to, those entities listed on Exhibit A, to (1) preserve the status quo; (2) ascertain
the true financial conditioh of the MS Entities and the disposition of investor funds; (3)
determine the extent of commingling of funds between the MS Entities; (4) prevent further
dissipation of the property and assets of the MS Entities; (5) prevent the encumbrance or disposal
of property or assets of the MS Entities; (6) preserve the books, records and documents of the
MS Entities; (7) be available to respond to investor inquiries; and (8) determine if the MS
Entities and all entities ﬂléy control or have an ownership interest in should undertake a
bankruptcy filing. To effectuate the foregoing, the receiver is hereby empowered to:

(a) Take and r-etain- immediate possession aﬁd control of all of the assets aqd property
of the MS Entities including but not limited to, those entities listed on Exhibit A,
and all 5001(5, .records and documents of MS Entities, and the rights and powers of
it vﬁth respect thereto;

()  Have exclusive control of, and be made the sole authorized signatory for, all
accounts at any bank, brokerage firm or ﬁnancialv institution that has possession or
control of any assets or funds of MS Entities including but not limited to, those
entities listed on Exhibit A;

(c) succeed to all rights to manage all properties owned or controlled, directly or
indi;cctly, by the MS Entities, including but not limited to, those entities listed on
Exhibit A, pursuant to the LLC and operating ag;r;aement'relating to each entity;

(d)  Pay from available funds necessary business expenses required to preserve the
assets and property of MS Entitiés and all entities they control or have an
ownership interest in, including the books, records, and documents of the

Defendants, notwithstanding the asset freeze imposed above;
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®

(2)

(®

®

Take preliminary steps to locate assets that may have been conveyed to third

parties or otherwise concealed;

- Take preliminary steps to ascertain the disposition and use of funds obtained by

the Defendants resulting from the sale of secuﬁtiés issued by the Defendants and
the entitiles they control;

Engage and employ persons, including accountants, atbomeys.and eﬁperts, to
assist in the carrying out of the receiver’s duties and résponsibi]ities hereunder;
Take all necessary steps to gain control of the Defendauis’ interests in assets in
foreign jurisdictions, including but not limited to taking steps necessary to
rcpatﬁate foreign assets; and -

Take such further action as the Court shall deem equitable, just and appropriate
under the circumstances upon proper application of the receiver. |

XVIIIL.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that no person or entity, including any creditor or

claimant against any of the Defendants, or any person acting on behalf of such creditor or

claimant, shall take any action without further order of this Court to interfere with the taking

control, possession, or management of the assets, including but not limited to the filing of any

lawsuits, liens or encumbrances or bankruptcy cases to impact the property and assets subject to

this ordelj.

XIX.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Defendants shall pay the reasonable costs, fees

and expenses of the receiver incurred in connection with the performance of his duties described
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herein, including but not limited to the reasonable costs, fees and expenses of all persons who
may be engaged or employed by the receiver to assist him in carrfing out his duties and
obligations. All applications for costs, fees and expénses of the receiver and those employed by
him shall be made by application to the Court setting forth in reasonable detail the nature of such
costs, fees and expenses and shall conform to the Fee Guidelines that will be supplied by the
'U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
XX.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that discovery is expedited as follows: pursuant to Rules 26,
30, 31, 33, 34, 36 and 45 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and without the requirement of
a meeting ﬁursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(f), the parties and the receiver may:
(1) Take depositions, subject to two (2) calendar days’ notice by facsimile or
otherwise; | | |
(2)  Obtain the production of documents, within ﬂirée (3) calendar days from service
by facsimile or otherwise of a request or subpoena from any persons or entities,
including non-party witnesses; and
3) Service of any discovery_ requests, notices, or subpoenas may bé made by personal
service, facsimile, overnight courier, or first-class mail on an iﬁdividual, entity or
the individual’s or entity’s attorney; and
4 The receiver may take discovery in this action ﬁrithont further order of the Court.
X¥L
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a copy of this Order and the papers supporting the
Commission’s Applicéﬁon be served upon the Defendants and Relief Defendant onor befor.e

\nled ﬂ.gdwq , Apnil | 2010, by personal delivery, facsimile, overnight courier, or first-class
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mail.
XXIIL.
IT iS FURTHER ORDERED that the Defendants and Relief Defendant shall deliver
any opposing papers in response to the Order to Show Cause above no later than

Tuu.s Aoy , April 2732010, at 4:00 p.m. Service shall be made by delivering the papers,

using the most expeditious means available, by that date and time, to the New York Regional
Ofﬁcé of the Commission at 3 World Financial Center, Room 4300, New York, New York
10281, Atin: David Stoelting Esq., or such other place as counsel for the Commission may direct
in writing. The Commission shall have until hq sesdha , April 29 , 2010, at 5:00 p.m.,
to serve, by the most expeditiouslmeans available, any reply papers upon the Defendants and
Relief Defendants, or upon their counsel, if counsel shall have made an appearance in this action.
| XXIII.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Order shall be, and is, binding upon the

Defendants and Relief Defendants and each of their respective officers, agents, servants,

Aersons in active concert or

employees, attorneys-in-fact, subsidiaries,%fﬁliates and thoge
facsimile

service, or otherwise.

Issued at : X 0o
April 74 2010
Albany, New York
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Exhibit A
List of Known Entities Controlled By McGinn and/or Smith

107" Associates LLC Trust 07

107" Associates LLC

74 State Street Capital LP
Acquisition Trust 03

Capital Center Credit Corporation
CMS Financial Services

Cruise Charter Ventures LLC dba YOLO Cruises
Cruise Charter Ventures Trust 08
First Advisory Income Notes LLC
First Commercial Capital Corp.

First Excelsior Income Notes LLC
First Independent Income Notes LLC
FirstLine Junior Trust 07

FirstLine Senior Trust 07

FirstLine Trust 07

Fortress Trust 08

Integrated Excellence Junior Trust
Integrated Excellence Junior Trust 08
Integrated Excellence Senior Trust
Integrated Excellence Senior Trust 08

P Investors

James J. Carroll Charitable Fund
JGC Trust 00

KC Acquisition Corp.

KMB Cable Holdings LLC
Luxury Cruise Center, Inc.
Luxury Cruise Holdings, LLC
Luxury Cruise Receivables, LLC
M & S Partners

McGinn, Smith & Co.

McGinn, Smith Acceptance Corp.
McGinn, Smith Advisors

~ McGinn, Smith Alarm Trading

McGinn, Smith Asset Management Corp.
McGinn, Smith Capital Holdings

- McGinn, Smith Capital Management LLC

McGinn, Smith Financial Services Corp.
McGinn, Smith FirstLine Funding LLC
McGinn, Smith Funding LLC

McGinn, Smith Group LLC

McGinn, Smith Holdings LLC

McGinn, Smith Independent Services Corp.
McGinn, Smith Licensing Co.




McGinn, Smith Transaction Funding Corp.
Mr. Cranberry LLC

MS Partners ]

MSFC Security Holdings LLC

NEI Capital LLC

Pacific Trust 02

Pine Street Capital Management LLC

Pine Street Capital Partners LP

Point Capital LLC

Prime Vision Communications LLC
Prime Vision Communication Management Keys Cove LLC
Prime Vision Communications of Cutler Cay LLC
Prime Vision Funding of Cutler Cove LLC
Prime Vision Funding of Key Cove LL
RTC Trust 02 ;
SAI Trust 00

SAI Trust 03

Security Participation Trust I

Security Participation Trust IT

Security Participation Trust ITT

Security Participation Trust IV

Seton Hall Associates

TDM Cable Funding LLC

TDM Cable Trust 06

TDM Luxury Cruise Trust 07

TDM Verifier Trust 07

TDM Verifier Trust 07R

TDM Verifier Trust 08

TDM Verifier Trust 08R

TDM Verifier Trust 09

TDM Verifier Trust 11

TDMM Benchmark Trust 09

TDMM Cable Funding LLC

TDMM Cable Jr Trust 09

TDMM Cable Sr Trust 09

Third Albany Income Notes LLC
Travel Liquidators, LLC
‘White Glove Cruises LLC
White Glove LLC
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Exhibit B
Known Bank Accounts

Institution Account Number Name of Account Holder Account Name 2
Mercantile Bank ) 998 107th Assoc. LLC Trust 07
Mercantile Bank EESNi087  |107th Associates LLC
M&T Bank EEEEENGE50 | 107th Associates LLC
M&T Bank EEEEEB478 |74 State Street Capital LP Operating
M&T Bank E87062 74 State Street Capital LP
M&T Bank EEEE-288 | Acquisition Trust 03 Qperating Account
Whitney National Bank D335 Benchmark Communication LLC
M&T Bank EEEEE0R05  |Capital Center Credit Corp Operating
M&T Bank EEEEE)50  |Capital Center Credit Corp Careclub Depository, 99 Pine St
Special Account Michael Lewy
JPMorganChase HGSBT Capital Center Credit Corp Attn: David Rees :
‘ C/O MCGINN SMITH & CO INC
NFS/Fidelity EEEEEER178 | Capital Center Credit Corp ATTN DAVID P REES
: ' Capital Center Credit Corp c/o McGinn Smith &
JPMorganChase 317 Co
Monterey Bank EElG6854 Charter Cruise Ventures dba YOLO Cruises
ME&T Bank B 133 CMS Financial )
M&T Bank 985  |CMS Financial Services Corp.
M&T Bank 2064 CMS Financial Services Corp. :
Monterey Bank EBE6846 Cruise Charter Ventures dba YOLO Cruises
Mercantile Bank 972 |Cruise Charter Ventures LLC
Mercantile Bank 1307 Cruise Charter Ventures LLC
Mercantile Bank 808 Cruise Charter Ventures Trust 08
M&T Bank 528 |First Advisory Income Notes Operating
M&T Bank 7439 First Advisory Income Notes Escrow
M&T Bank D147  |First Bxcelsior Income Notes LLC Alarm Accum Account
M&T Bank ESEED130  |First Excelsior Income Notes LLC Operating
Charter One Bank EEEEES63-8  |First Excelsior Income Notes LLC Escrow
JPMorganChase EE028  |First Excelsior Income Notes LLC
NES/Fidelity B 230  |First Excelsior Income Notes LLC .
M&T Bank ESSNEEIS0]13  |First Independent Income Notes Operating
M&T Bank B0279  |First Independent Income Notes Monitoring Contract Accum
Charter One Bank EEEREEE)03-6  |First Independent Income Notes Timothy McGinn
JPMorganChase ES-503 First Independent Income Notes
JPMorganChase "EEEEN0037  |First Independent Income Notes
NFS/Fidelity EEEEE:034  |First Independent Income Notes
MeGinn Smith Capital Holdings
Mercantile Bank 921  |FirstLine Senior Trust 07 DTD 5/19/07 Corp. TTEE
M&T Bank EREEERNS028  |FirstLine Sr Trust 07
" M&T Bank EEEEE>366 |FirstLine Sr Trust 07 Series B ,
Mercantile Bank 0733  |FirstLine Sr Trust 07 Series B McGinn Smith & Co Inc Trustee
M&T Bank EEEES010  |FirstLine Trust 07
McGinn Smith Capital Holdings
Mercantile Bank SR 010  |FirsiLine Trust 07 DTD 5/19/07 Corp. TTEE
McGinn Smith & Co Inc Trustee,
Mercantile Bank EEEE)722  |FirstLine Trust 07 Series B UAD 10/16/07
M&T Bank BB 358 |FirstLine Trust 07 Series B
/o McGinn Smith Capital
M&T Bank EEEEc413 |Fortress Trust 08 Holdings Corp.
McGinn Smith Capital Holdings
Mercantile Bank B 187 Fortress Trust 08 UTD 9/10/08 Corp - TTEE
M&T Bank EESEENG165  |Integrated Excellence Jr Trust
. |McGinn Smith Capital Holdings
Mercantile Bank 094 |Integrated Excellence Jr Trust 08 DTD 5/28/08  |Corp - TTEE

ME&T Bank

Integrated Excellence Sr Trust

G173



Exhibit B
Known Bank Accounts

Account Name 2

Institution Account Number Name of Account Holder
McGinn Smith Capital Holdings
Mercantile Bank -3983 Integrated Excellence Sr Trust 08 DTD 5/27/08 |Corp - TTEE
M&T Bank EEGR68 |IP Investors LLC
M&T Bank EEEEER;783  |James J. Carvoll Charitable Fund
M&T Bank BEEEERGR15  |JGC Trust 00 _ Operating c/o McGinn Smith
Mercantile Bank PEEEEN1674  |Luxury Cruise Center Inc
Mercantile Bank BEEE446  |Luxury Cruise Center Inc
Mercantile Bank BE0435  |Luxury Cruise Charter Inc. Payables
M&T Bank EER3006  |M&S Partners
JPMorganChase EEEB443 |McGinn Smith & Co
JPMorganChase 670 McGinn Smith & Co
MCGINN SMITH & CO DELIGIANNIS
NES/Fidelity EEE0167 |MASTER ACCOUNT -
_ MCGINN SMITH & CO AVERAGE PRICE
- NFS/Fidelity 0035 |ACCOUNT
JPMorganChase EEE4300 McGinn Smith & Co Capital A/C
McGinn Smith & Co Corporate Bond A/C Atin:
JPMorganChase EE302 David Rees
‘ , : McGinn Smith & Co Deposit Account Attn:
JPMorganChase 306 |David Rees
McGinn Smith & Co Error Account Attn: David
JPMorganChase 305 Rees
McGinn Smith & Co Firm Trading A/C Atmn:
JPMorganChase B0 David Rees
: McGinn Smith & Co Govt Bond A/C Atln: David
JPMorganChase B0z |Rees :
NFS/Fidelity EEEEI007 |MCGINN SMITH & CO INC
' MCGINN SMITH & CO INC ALBANY BTAM
NFS/Fidelity EEEEE0051 |3 DIFFERENCE
MCGINN SMITH & CO INC ALBANY BTAM
NFS/Fidelity EEEE043 [MASTER ACCOUNT
NFS/Fidelity B 007 |MCGINN SMITH & CO INC DAVID L SMITH
MCGINN SMITH & CO INC DELIGIANNIS §
NFS/Fidelity EEEEE0175 |DIFFERENCE )
. |MCGINN SMITH & CO INC NYC BTAM
NFS/Fidelity EEEEEE)036 |UNALLOCATED
MCGINN SMITH & CO INC REVENUE
NFS/Fidelity B 728 |ACCOUNT '
MCGINN SMITH & CO INC ALBANY BTAM
NFS/Fidelity 060 |UNALLOCATED
i MCGINN SMITH & CO INC BOYLAN §
NFS/Fidelity EESSE0205 |DIFFERENCE
MCGINN SMITH & CO INC BOYLAN
NFS/Fidelity EEEEE19]  |MASTER ACCOUNT
MCGINN SMITH & CO INC DELIGIANNIS
NFS/Fidelity B33 |UNALLOCATED
. MCGINN SMITH & CO INC ERROR
NFS/Fidelity B s |Account
MCGINN SMITH & CO INC RABINOVICH § |
NFS/Fidelity EEEEED230  |DIFFERENCE
MCGINN SMITH & CO INC RABINOVICH
NFS/Fidelity B 0221  |MASTER ACCOUNT
: MCGINN SMITH & CO INC RABINOVICH
NFS/Fidelity D248 |UNALLOCATED




Exhibit B
Known Bank Accounts

Institution Account Number Name of Account Holder Account Name 2
MCGINN SMITH & CO INC SANCHIRICO §
NFS/Fidelity [Emam0140  |[DIFFERENCE
) MCGINN SMITH & CO INC SANCHIRICO
NFS/Fidelity EE132 [MASTER ACCOUNTS
MCGINN SMITH & CO INC SANCHIRICO
NFS/Fidelity EEEEE) 59 [UNALLOCATED
MCGINN SMITH & CO INC SYNDICATE
NFS/Fidelity EED108  |ACCOUNT
McGinn Smith & Co Municipal Bond Account
JPMorganChase B304 |Atm: David Rees
JPMorganChase =915 MeGinn Smith & Co Reserve AJ’C Residual Bal
NFS/Fidelity 019 MCGINN SMITH & CO RISKLESS PRINCIPAL
JPMorganChase 307 McGinn Smith & Co Syndicate A/C
M&T Bank EEEEI08]1  |[McGinn Smith & Company Dividend
M&T Bank ES4734  |McGinn Smith & Company
M&T Bank E:569  [McGinn Smith Advisors LLC
M&T Bank EEEEH044  |McGinn Smith Alarm Trading LLC
MSCH Paying Agent for Vldsuﬂ
M&T Bank B350 [McGinn Smith Capital Holdings Inc.
C ' Payment Agent for Vigilant
M&T Bank EEEE:551 |McGinn Smith Capital Holdings Privacy Corp.
M&T Bank ism McGinn Smith Capital Holdings
JPMorganChase McGinn Smith Capital Holdings
NFS/Fidelity R . IMCGINN SMITH CAPITAL HOLDINGS
ME&T Bank : McGinn Smith Capital Holdings Corp Hannan Reserve Account
Mercantile Bank B35 |McGinn Smith Funding LLC
Monterey Bank EEE6838 . |McGinn Smith Funding LLC
M&T Bank EEEEEE:925  |McGinn Smith Holdings LLC
£ MCGINN SMITH INCENTIVE PL CUST IRA
NFS/Fidelity EEEy11  |OF TIMOTHY MCGINN
JPMorganChase 246 McGinn Smith Incentive Savings Plan
Mercantile Bank EEE0022  [McGinn Smith Independent Services Corp
M&T Bank EE o075  |McGinn Smith Independent Services Corp
M&T Bank 051  |McGinn Smith Licensing Company LLC
Mercantile Bank 083 |McGinn Smith Transaction Funding Corp
M&T Bank G207  |McGinn Smith Transaction Funding Corp .
Mercantile Bank 557  |McGinn Smith Transaction Funding Corp 2nd Offering Account
M&T Bank [ElE5036  |McGinn Smith Acceptance Corp
McGinn, Tim (Union Bank of California Cust
" |Adams Keegan Retirerient Svgs Plan, FBO Tim
JPMorganChase EEE 04 [McGinn A/C # EEERE5003)
NFS/Fidelity ERSRE 715  [MoGinn, Timothy M.
M&T Bank BER675 | McGinn, Timothy M.
M&T Bank . 9504 McGinn, Timothy M.
Mercantile Bank B’ 17] MR Cranberry LLC c/o Timothy McGinn
NFS/Fidelity EEEEN:72 VIR Cranberry LLC
ME&T Bank G421 MSFC Security Holdings LLC
Mercantile Bank EEEEo220  |NEI Capital LLC
M&T Bank ‘833 Pacific Trust 02 Operating
M&T Bank EE626  |Pine Street Capital Management LLC
" M&T Bank ﬁﬁaﬂs Pine Street Capital Partners
M&T Bank 535  |Pine Street Capital Partners LP Operating
Prime Vision Communication Mgmt Keys Cove
Mercantile Bank sy LLC c/o McGinn Smith & Co
Bank of Florida BEs5976 Prime Vision Communications LLC




Exhibit B
Known Bank Accounts

Institution Account Number Name of Account Holder Account Name 2
Mercantile Bank BEEEE0698  [Prime Vision Communications of Cutler Cay LL(c/o McGinn Smith & Co
Mercantile Bank [E=e=40518  |Prime Vision Funding of Cutler Cove LLC ¢/o McGinn Smith & Co
Mercantile Bank EEEE0529 |Prime Vision Funding of Key Cove LLC c/o McGinn Smith & Co

M&T Bank BEEEE767  |[RTCTrust 02 Accum

M&T Bank EEEESS775  |RTC Trust 02 Operating
JPMorganChase [ RTC Trust II

M&T Bank G35 SATTrust00

Charter One Bank B3 03-3  |SAI Trust 00

ME&T Bank B 066 SAI Trust 03 Ir

ME&T Bank EEEEE1620  |SAI Trust 03 Sr
" M&T Bank §21/729  |Security Participation Trust I

M&T Bank EREEEEN0410 |Security Participation Trust 11 Accum

Mé&T Bank B8R | Security Participation Trust 11 Operating

ME&T Bank EEER 23 Security Participation Trust III Operating

Mé&T Bank B Security Participation Trust III Accum

M&T Bank EEEEEISA60  |Security Participation TrustIV

Charter One Bank EEEEE023-6 | Security Participation Trust Oper
M&T Bank @ o> [Seton Hall Associates McGinn & Smith
NFS/Fidelity B 003 Smith, David L.
M&T Bank . Y65 Smith, David L.
NFS/Fidelity ESSEE016  [Smith, Lynn A,
NFS/Fidelity EEE=012 Smith, Lynn A.
Bank of America o Smith, Lynn A.
Mercantile Bank _ EEEEER0507 | TDM Cable Funding LLC ¢/o McGimm Smith & Co
Mercantile Bank 573 TDM Cable Funding LLC / TDM Cable Trust.06 |c/o McGinn Smith & Co
TDM Cable Funding LLC TDM Verifier Trust 07 _

M&T Bank Operating - TDM Verifier Trust 07 Operating |

M&T Bank TDM Cable Flmdmg LLC Trust 06 Account Trust 06 Account

M&T Bank TDM Luxury Cruise Trust 07

MeGinn Smith Capital Holdings
Mercantile Bank . TDM Luxury Cruise Trust 07 DTD 7/16/07 Corp-TTEE
Mercantile Bank TDM Verifier Trust 07 Escrow
Mercantile Bank TDM Verifier Trust 07R )

ME&ET Bank TDM Verifier Trust 08

McGinn Smith Capital Holdings
Mercantile Bank TDM Verifier Trust 08 DTD 12/11/07 Corp- TTEE

McGinn Smith Capital Holdings
Mercantile Bank TDM Verifier Trust 08R. DTD 12/1 lf{)'? Corp - TTEE

M&T Bank G736 TDM Verifier Trust 09 .

. : McGinn Smith Capital Holdings
Mercantile Bank 007 | TDM Verifier Trust 09 DTD 12/15/08 Corp- TTEE .
* M&T Bank EEEE7064 | TDM Verifier Trust 11
M&T Bank 0409 TDM Verifier Trust 11
| M&T Bank EEEEEEN7056 | TDMM Benchmark Trust 09
Mercantile Bank EEE077 | TDMM Cable Funding LLC :
McGinn Smith Capital Holdings
Mercantile Bank EEE=1139 TDMM Cable Jr Tr 09 DTD 1/16/09 Corp - TTEE '
M&T Bank EBE728 TDMM Cable Jr Trust 09
i ) McGinn Smith Capital Huidmgs
Mercantile Bank EES1150  [TDMM Cable Sr Tr 09 DTD 1/16/09 Corp - TTEE
Mé&T Bank 710 TDMM Cable Sr Trust 09 .
M&T Bank B a62 Third Albany Income Notes Escrow
______ NFS/Fidelity ﬁsm Third Albany Income Notes
| M&T Bank EEEED550 | Third Albany Income Notes Operating
M&T Bank BB 593 | Third Albany Income Notes Alarm Accum
JPMorganChase EEEE088s | Third Albany Income Notes




Exhibit B
Known Bank Accounts
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Institution

Account Number Name of Account Holder

NFS/Fidelity

Account Name 2

EEESSS TTEE David L Smith & Lynn A
E=EEb671 | Smith, Irev Tr U/A B2R04
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE

COMMISSION,
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V. No. 10-CV-457
(GLS/DRH)
McGINN, SMITH & CO., INC.; McGINN, SMITH
ADVISORS, LLC; McGINN, SMITH CAPITAL
HOLDINGS CORP.; FIRST ADVISORY
INCOME NOTES, LLC; FIRST EXCELSIOR
INCOME NOTES, LLC; FIRST INDEPENDENT
INCOME NOTES, LLC; THIRD ALBANY
INCOME NOTES, LLC; TIMOTHY M. McGINN;
and DAVID L. SMITH,
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LYNN A. SMITH,
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DAVID M. WOJESKI, Trustee of David L. and
Lynn A. Smith Irrevocable Trust U/A 8/04/04.
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DAVID STOELTING, ESQ. ANDREW CALAMARI, ESQ.
Attorney for Plaintiff MICHAEL PALEY, ESQ.
Securities and Exchange Commission KEVIN McGRATH, ESQ.
Room 400 LARA MEHREBAN, ESQ,
3 World Financial Center LINDA ARNOLD, ESQ.
New York, New York 10281
WILLIAM J. BROWN, ESQ.
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Phillips Lytle LLP
3400 HSBC Center
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GREENBERG TRAURIG MICHAEL L. KOENIG, ESQ.

Attorney for Defendants Timothy M.
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6™ Floor
54 State Street
Albany, New York 12207

FEATHERSTONHAUGH, WILEY & JAMES D. FEATHERSTONHAUGH, ESQ.
CLYNE, LLP

Attorney for Relief Defendant

Suite 207

99 Pine Street

Albany, New York 12207

JILL A. DUNN, ESQ.

Attorney for Intervenor

Suite 210

99 Pine Street
Albany, New York 12207

DAVID R. HOMER
U.S. MAGISTRATE JUDGE

MEMORANDUM-DECISION AND ORDER
Presently pending are the motions’ of (1) plaintiff Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC?”) for a preliminary injunction freezing the assets of the defendants and
of relief defendant® Lynn A. Smith (“Lynn Smith”) and granting related relief pending a final
disposition of the complaint herein (Dkt. No. 4, 5), and (2) intervenor David M. Wojeski,
Trustee of David L. and Lynn A. Smith Irrevocable Trust U/A 8/04/04 (“Trust”) lifting the

temporary restraining order (“TRO”) freezing the Trust and awarding costs and attorney’s

'These matters were referred to the undersigned for decision pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 636(c). Dkt. Nos. 12, 59.

*A relief defendant, or nominal defendant, is not accused of wrongdoing but may be
joined in an action to facilitate the recovery of relief. Janvey v. Adams, 588 F.3d 831, 834
(5™ Cir. 2009) (citing SEC V. Cavanagh, 445 F.3d 105, 109 n.7 (2d Cir. 2006)).
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fees (Dkt. No. 31).® For the reasons which follow, both motions are granted in part and

denied in part.

l. Facts*

Defendants Timothy M. McGinn (“McGinn”) and David L. Smith (“David Smith”)
joined to form McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc. (“MS & Co.”) in 1981 with a principal place of
business at 99 Pine Street, Albany, New York. Through its own employees and through
related entities, MS & Co. offered financial services to clients, including investment advice
and stock brokerage services as well as investments in securities which it sold. McGinn
presently serves as Chairman and Smith as President of MS & Co. Compl. (Dkt. No. 1) at
16, 17. Lynn Smith is married to David Smith. The Trust was created in 2004 for the
benefit of the Smiths’ two adult children. The SEC was created, inter alia, to regulate the
purchases and sales of securities and acts to enforce compliance with laws and regulations

governing such transactions. See 15 U.S.C. § 78a et seq.

A. McGinn, David Smith, and the MS & Co. Entities
The SEC’s complaint alleges that from September 2003 to October 2005, MS & Co.
and its related entities raised over $120 million from over 900 investors solicited primarily by

McGinn and David Smith. Compl. [ 1; Mehraban Decl. | (Dkt. No. 4-3) at §[f2, 3 The

*The Trust was previously granted leave to intervene for this and related purposes.
Dkt. No. 39.

‘The facts found herein are based on the sworn statements submitted by the
parties, the exhibits attached thereto, the testimony of the witnesses at the hearing on
June 9-11, 2010, and the exhibits received at that hearing.
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investments were made in four funds® which made over twenty unregistered debt offerings.®
David Smith managed the funds and their investments while McGinn acted on behalf of MS
& Co. and its related entities. Compl. §[{] 16, 17. Smith prepared and approved the Private
Placement Memorandum (PPM) for each fund, which were essentially identical for all and
which were given to investors. Mehraban Decl. | at []] 3-5. The SEC alleges that in a
variety of ways, the defendants misrepresented to investors the true nature of the Four
Funds, how the funds would be invested, the diligence with which the defendants had
investigated the recipients of the funds’ investments, the accreditation of investors, and had
failed to register the Four Funds as securities as the law required. Id. at [ 6-13.

The SEC also alleges that the defendants raised additional capital through trust
offerings. Beginning in November 2006, the defendants obtained from investors over $23
million for investment in over eighteen trusts. Mehraban Decl. | at [ 14. Potential investors
were advised by defendants that the funds were created for specific purposes, such as the
purchase of contracts for security alarm services, broadband cable services, telephone

services, and luxury cruises. Id. at § 15. Investors were to receive annual returns of 7.75-

*First Advisory Income Notes, LLC; First Excelsior Income Notes, LLC; First
Independent Income Notes, LLC; and Third Albany Income Notes, LLC (collectively the
“Four Funds”).

The debt offerings were described as

various public and/or private investments, which may include, without
limitation, debt securities, collateralized debt obligations, bonds, equity
securities, trust preferreds, collateralized stock, convertible stock, bridge
loans, leases, mortgages, equipment leases, securitized cash flow
instruments, and any other investments that may add value to our portfolio
(individually an “Investment” and collectively, the “Investments”).

PPMs of Four Funds (Dkt. Nos. 4-6 through 9) at 1.

4
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13% on their investments with the investment principle to be returned at the maturity date
18-60 months from the date of the offering. Id. at [ 17. From these trust funds, defendants
charged fees under various rubrics totaling over 30% of the total invested in the funds,
much of which was not disclosed to investors. |d. at [ 20-47. Given the high fees, both
disclosed and undisclosed, charged to the funds by the defendants, the high rates of return
promised investors were not reasonably possible.

In 2008, the defendants began advising investors that interest payments could not be
made as promised, promised interest rates would be reduced and maturity dates extended,
and defendant would no longer charge fees to the funds. Mehraban Decl. | at §[{] 54-56. In
2008, MS & Co. lost over $1.8 million. Id. at  57. Clients complained to authorities about
how their investments were being handled and an investigation of the defendants was
undertaken by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA).” Maya Decl. (Dkt. No.
4-3) at [ 3. As events unfolded in 2009, defendants evidenced increasing desperation to

satisfy investors’ complaints,® meet payroll, and continue their operations. Id. at ] 58-80.

'FINRA was created by statute in 2007 as the only officially registered national
securities association. Nat'l Ass'n of Sec. Dealers, Inc. v. SEC, 431 F.3d 803, 804 (D.C.
Cir. 2005). “By virtue of its statutory authority, [FINRA] wears two institutional hats: it
serves as a professional association, promoting the interests of its] members ... and it
serves as a quasi-governmental agency, with express statutory authority to adjudicate
actions against members who are accused of illegal securities practices and to sanction
members found to have violated the Exchange Act or [SEC] regulations issued pursuant
thereto.” Id. (citing 15 U.S.C. § 780-3(b)(7)). In its self-regulatory role, FINRA requires
members to arbitrate disputes with clients, an arbitration may result in an award of
damages to a client against a member, and FINRA may investigate the conduct of a
member and impose sanctions. See Karsner v. Lothian, 532 F.3d 876, 880 (D.C. Cir.
2008).

fClients began inquiring of their brokers at MS & Co. whether they had become
victims of a Ponzi scheme. Mehraban Decl. | at q[]] 69, 73; see also United States v.
Treadwell, 593 F.3d 990, 993 n.2 (9" Cir. 2010) (“The term Ponzi scheme refers to a

5




Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS-DRH Document 86 Filed 07/07/10 Page 6 of 43

McGinn and David Smith also took certain steps to protect their own assets from the claims
of investors, including transferring title to real estate held jointly with their wives into the
names of the wives alone. T.280-81, 301-02, 372.° Nevertheless, defendants continued to
solicit and raise capital for the Four Funds through 2009 without advising potential investors
of, for example, the reduced interest rates, extended maturity dates, and failures to pay
earlier investors as represented. |d. at {[{] 81-85.

According to the SEC, as of the date of the commencement of this action, the
defendants had raised over $120 million in investments in outstanding funds and over $80
million in principle is currently owed to investors. It appears that MS & Co. and its related
entities possessed less than $1 million in assets for the benefit of investors as of that date.

First Report of the Receiver (Dkt. No. 49) at 5.

B. The Present Motion

On April 20, 2010, the SEC commenced this action by filing a complaint™ alleging

fraudulent scheme in which, rather than paying investor returns from investment income,
initial investors are paid off with new contributions from additional investors. . . . Although
this may appear to be a good deal for participants at the outset, the underlying economics
mean that such a scheme must eventually collapse, when the flow of new funds can no
longer support payments required on the earlier funds invested. On collapse, the investors
lose their remaining investments.”) (citation omitted) (describing history of Ponzi
schemes).

*“T.” followed by a number refers to the page of the transcript of the hearing on
June 9-11, 2010.

On April 19 and 20, 2010, law enforcement authorities applied for and received
eight search warrants in connection with a criminal investigation of the defendants. See In
re Search Warrants Issued Apr. 19 &20, 2010, No. 10-M-204 (N.D.N.Y. FILED May 12,
2010) at Dkt. No. 38, p. 1. The search warrants were executed in succeeding days. Id. at
pp. 1-2. Criminal charges have not been filed, but the investigation remains ongoing. In
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that the conduct described above constitutes past and ongoing violations of § 17(a) of the
Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a); § 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
15 U.S.C. § 78j(b); Rule 10b-5 under the 1934 act, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5; and related
provisions. Compl. at [f] 7-12. To preserve defendants’ assets for the benefit of investors in
the event it prevails here, the SEC simultaneously sought and received the TRO appointing
a receiver to take possession of defendants’ assets and of MS & Co. and its related entities,
freezing defendants’ assets pending the outcome of this action, freezing the assets of Lynn
Smith, ordering verified accountings, and related relief. Dkt. Nos. 4, 5. A receiver was
appointed and the assets of the defendants and Lynn Smith were frozen pending a hearing.
TRO at 7.

Prior to the commencement of the hearing on June 9, 2010, McGinn and David
Smith consented to a preliminary injunction continuing the freeze of their assets. Dkt. No.
61. Through the receiver, the remaining defendants also consented to such an order. T.
40. Without objection, the SEC’s motion for a preliminary injunction as to all defendants will

be granted. Issues remain, however, as to both Lynn Smith and the Trust.

C. Lynn Smith
Lynn Smith has been married to David Smith for forty-two years. Smith Aff. (Dkt. No.
23)atq 2; T. 271, 357. Lynn Smith’s father died shortly after her marriage leaving her, inter

alia, a stock account then valued at approximately $60,000 (“Stock Account”) and a camp

re Search Warrants, No. 10-M-204, at Dkt.No. 37.
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on Great Sacandaga Lake." Lynn Smith Aff. ] 13, 14; T. 326, 355-58. These inheritances
have always been maintained solely in Lynn Smith’s name. Lynn Smith Aff. §17; T. 355-
59. In addition, in 2009, David Smith and Lynn Smith transferred title to a vacation property
in Vero Beach, Florida (“Vero Beach home”) into the name of Lynn Smith alone. T. 280-81,
372."% In 2009, Lynn Smith also opened a checking account solely in her name after the
Smiths had maintained only a single joint checking account for the previous forty years. T.
281-83, 374, 403-04. Thereafter, funds from the joint checking account were transferred
into her account along with other funds and it was used to pay the Smiths’ joint obligations.
T. 282-83; 374-75.

The Stock Account was managed for the first few years by the firm retained by Lynn
Smith’s father. Lynn Smith Aff. at ] 14, 15; T. 358-59. However, David Smith became a
licensed broker in the mid-1970s and assumed management of the account. T. 360. Over
the years, the Smiths used proceeds from the account, inter alia, to purchase their jointly
owned primary residences, pay the costs of college educations for their two children,
purchase two jointly owned vacation homes in Vermont and later in Florida, and create a
Trust in both their names. T. 279-81; 328-29; 350-51; 368-72; see also subsection I(D)

infra. Notwithstanding these expenditures, however, the value of the Stock Account grew

""Great Sacandaga Lake is located northwest of Albany and north of Amsterdam in
the southern part of the Adirondack Mountains.. In their August 2008 financial statement,
the Smiths estimated the value of this property at $700,000 with no mortgage. PI. Ex. 18
at 1. In her testimony here, Lynn Smith estimated its value at $600,000. Lynn Smith Aff.
at q[1] 13, 14. No evidence has been presented that David Smith ever held an ownership
interest in this camp.

"In the August 2008 financial statement, the Smiths valued the property at $2.4
million and stated that the amount of the outstanding mortgage was $902,786. PI. Ex. 18
at1.
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from a low of $10,000 in the 1970s to a high of over $7 million in 2001. T. 326-27; 349;
363-64. As of January 2010, the account’s value was approximately $2.1 million. T. 364;
see also T. 349-50 (explaining that approximately $2 million remained in the account
subsequent to the creation of the Trust).

Although title to the Stock Account always has remained in the name of Lynn Smith
alone, David Smith enjoyed unfettered control over the account.” For at least the last ten
years, David Smith engaged in Stock Account transactions using authorizations signed in

blank by Lynn Smith,™ or with her signature signed by David Smith, and completed by

PLynn Smith asserts that she always maintained sole control over the Stock
Account and that David Smith acted only as her broker on the account. T. 176-77, 363.
She testified that she signed blank account authorizations, and approved David Smith
signing her name to others, for her own convenience. T. 384-86. She also testified that
she knew of and approved all Stock Account transactions and that, while she approved
every transaction proposed by David Smith until 2009, she rejected David Smith’s request
to loan over $300,000 to MS & Co. to help meet the company’s obligations. T. 335-39,
386-87. However, Lynn Smith also testified that when she and David Smith transferred
assets previously held jointly or solely in David Smith’s name into Lynn Smith’s name
alone, and when she opened a checking account in her name alone for the first time in her
marriage, she took these actions to clarify her financial independence from her husband
and not to shield their assets from recovery by investors in light of the FINRA proceedings.
T.375-76, 405. Given that the Smiths had maintained a joint checking account for the
previous forty years of their marriage, the fact that real property purchased during their
marriage had always been maintained jointly in both their names, the timing of these
transfers of title to Lynn Smith as the threat of investors recovering from David Smith
mounted, the unfailingly self-serving content of Lynn Smith’s testimony, the improbability
of that testimony in material respects, the absence of credible corroborating evidence,
inconsistencies in her testimony, and the Court’s observations of Lynn Smith as she
testified, the Court finds incredible her testimony regarding the reasons for these
transactions as well as verbal communications with David Smith. Her testimony on those
subjects is rejected.

“Lynn Smith would sign 10-15 forms in blank at a time and provide them to David
Smith for his use in completing transactions on the Stock Account. T. 175-84, 341-43,
384-86. David Smith then gave these blank but signed authorizations to a subordinate to
be maintained in the subordinate’s desk for use as directed by David Smith. T. 175-84,
384-86, 413-14.
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David Smith or a subordinate at MS & Co. T. 175-84; 339-41." Besides investments,
David Smith used the Stock Account to make numerous short-term loans to MS & Co.
related entities, all of which were repaid from MS & Co. related accounts. See, e.g., T. 341
(bridge loan to TDM Benchmark for $100,000 on March 18, 2010), 433-34 (bridge loan to
McGinn Smith Funding for $375,000 on November 29, 2007), 437 (bridge loan to TDMM
Cable Funding for $366,000 on June 5, 2009); see also PI. Ex. 72, Ex. 2 (summary of
deposits and withdrawals from Stock Account). David Smith also made two loans to
McGinn totaling over $900,000 of which over $700,000 remains unpaid. T. 124-25, 278-79.
In 2009, David Smith also caused assets held solely in his name totaling approximately
$364,000 to be transferred to the Stock Account with no apparent reason other than to
shield those assets from investors. T.290-92, 296-301.

As to the Vero Beach home, the Smiths had purchased a vacation home in Vermont
with funds from the Stock Account to be used for skiing vacations when their children, both
competitive skiers, were younger. T. 369, 371-72. When the children entered college
approximately nine years ago, the Smiths sold the Vermont home and purchased the Vero
Beach home again using funds from the Stock Account. T. 371-72. The property was used
and enjoyed jointly by the Smiths. T. 372. Title to the Vero Beach home was held jointly in
the names of David Smith and Lynn Smith until 2009 when the Smiths caused the title to be

transferred into Lynn Smith’s name alone. T. 372.

"“Over $1.7 million in such loans were made by David Smith to both MS & Co.
companies and MS & Co. employees. T. 341, 433-39. They ranged in amounts from
$100,000 to $900,000. T. 124-25, 278-79, 341, 433-39. While most loans were repaid
within days or weeks with interest, it does not appear that each were memorialized in a
writing signed by the loan recipient. T. 433-39.

10
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D. The Trust

In the early 1990s, David Smith caused the Stock Account to purchase 40,000
shares of stock at the initial offering of an Albany-area bank for $400,000. T. 349, 365, 390,
508-09. By August 2004, through bank mergers and acquisitions, the number of shares
had increased to approximately 100,000 and their value to over $4 million. T. 313, 365-66,
450-52, 486-87, 508-09, 526. With that stock, David and Lynn Smith created the Trust for
the benefit of their two children, now ages thirty and twenty-seven. T. 311-12, 388, 391-92,
450-52, 486-87, 505-06, 526. Thomas Urbelus was selected by the Smiths as Trustee of
the Trust and remained in that position until his resignation on April 22, 2010. Urbelus Dep.
Tr. (Dkt. No. 66-1) at 10-11, 49-51; T. 312-13, 320, 323, 388-89. Urbelus had remained
friends with the Smiths since childhood and the families spent significant time together each
year. Urbelus Dep. Tr. at 7-10; T. 313, 389, 507, 566. Urbelus was employed as a lawyer
in Boston specializing in real estate. Urbelus Dep. Tr. at 5-6; T. 313.

Throughout Urbelus’ tenure as Trustee, David Smith functioned as the Trust’s
investment advisor and broker. Urbelus Dep. Tr. at 12-14; T. 315-18. When David Smith
determined that the Trust should buy or sell an asset, he would prepare the appropriate
authorizations, forward them to Urbelus for his signature, receive them back, and complete
the transaction. Urbelus Dep. Tr. at 21-22. . At Urbelus’ request, David Smith also caused
the tax returns for the Trust to be prepared by the Smiths’ accountant. Urbelus Dep. Tr. at
11-14; T. 393-94, 448. In most years, David Smith would then issue a personal check to
pay the taxes owed by the Trust and Urbelus would cause the Trust to issue checks to
Smith in reimbursement. T. 135, 137, 145-48, 394-96, 449, 456-60. In several years,

however, David Smith was not reimbursed for paying the Trust’s taxes in amounts totaling
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approximately $100,000. T. 464-66.

From the creation of the Trust until approximately April 14, 2010, the only
distributions from the Trust were those to David Smith to reimburse him for paying the
Trust’'s taxes. Urbelus Dep. Tr. at 18, 30-31; T. 135, 137, 145-48, 449, 456-60, 492-98,
553. The only other distribution from the Trust occurred on April 14 or 15, 2010 after David
Smith advised his son Jeffrey Smith, that David and Lynn Smith lacked sufficient cash on
hand to pay their personal taxes. T. 347, 463, 515-16, 535-36, 540. Jeffrey Smith, the
Smiths’ son and a beneficiary of the Trust, then directed Urbelus to transfer approximately
$95,000 from the Trust to Lynn Smith’s checking account, approximately $60,000 of which
was used to pay David and Lynn Smith’s taxes. Urbelus Dep. Tr. at 16-17; T. 101, 320-21,
397, 416, 463, 513-16; PIl. Ex. 72, Ex. 1. Following Urbelus’ resignation as Trustee, David
and Lynn Smith selected David Wojeski, an Albany-area Certified Public Accountant, as the

new Trustee. T.548-49.

Il. Discussion
A. Legal Standard
1. Preliminary Injunction

Pursuant to § 20(b) of the Securities Act' and § 21(d) of the Exchange Act,"” the

' This Section provides that:

Whenever it shall appear to the Commission that any person is engaged or
about to engage in any acts or practices which constitute or will constitute a
violation of the provisions of this subchapter, or of any rule or regulation
prescribed under authority thereof, the Commission may, in its discretion,
bring an action in any district court of the United States, or United States
court of any Territory, to enjoin such acts or practices, and upon a proper

12
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Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) is entitled to seek injunctive relief in the face
of alleged statutory violations. 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b), 78u(d). “The crafting of a remedy for
violations of the [securities acts] lies within the district court’s broad equitable discretion.”

SEC v. Fischbach Corp., 133 F.3d 170, 175 (2d Cir. 1997); see also SEC v. Unifund Sal,

910 F.2d 1028, 1035 (2d Cir. 1990) (“When Congress grants district courts jurisdiction to
enjoin those violating or about to violate federal statutes, it is authorizing the exercise of
equity practice with a background of several hundred years of history.”) (internal quotation

marks and citations omitted); SEC v. Manor Nursing Centers, Inc., 458 F.2d 1082, 1103 (2d

Cir. 1972) (explaining the equitable powers granted to the district court and holding that
when there is “a showing of a securities law violation, the court possesses the necessary
power to fashion an appropriate remedy.”).

In the Second Circuit, injunctions sought by the SEC do not require a “show[ing of] a

risk of irreparable harm or the unavailability of remedies at law. Unifund, 910 F.2d at 1036

showing, a permanent or temporary injunction or restraining order shall be
granted without bond.

15 U.S.C. § 77t(b).

"7 This Section provides that:

Whenever it shall appear to the Commission that any person is engaged or
is about to engage in acts or practices constituting a violation of any
provision of this chapter, the rules or regulations thereunder, [or the rules of
exchanges and other registered entities] . . ., it may in its discretion bring an
action in the proper district court of the United States, the United States
District Court for the District of Columbia, or the United States courts of any
territory or other place subject to the jurisdiction of the United States, to
enjoin such acts or practices, and upon a proper showing a permanent or
temporary injunction or restraining order shall be granted without bond.

15 U.S.C. § 78u(d).

13




Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS-DRH Document 86 Filed 07/07/10 Page 14 of 43

(citations omitted). Thus, “[a] preliminary injunction enjoining violations of the securities law
is appropriate if the SEC makes a substantial showing of likelihood of success as to both a

current violation and the risk of repetition.” SEC v. Cavanagh, 155 F.3d 129, 132 (2d

Cir.1998) (citing Unifund, 910 F.2d at 1039-40). However, a less burdensome standard is
involved with freezing assets, requiring the SEC to “establish only that it is likely to succeed
on the merits, or that an inference can be drawn that the party has violated the federal
securities laws.” SEC v. Byers, No. 08-CV-7104, 2009 WL 33434, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 7,
2009) affd — F.3d —, 2010 WL 2366539 (2d Cir. June 15, 2010) (citing Cavanagh, 155
F.3d at 136 (“The standard of review for an injunction freezing assets of a relief defendant is
whether the SEC has shown that it is likely to succeed on the merits.”), Unifund, 910 F.2d at
1041 (finding an asset freeze appropriate because “[t]here is a basis to infer that the

appellants traded on inside information . . . . “)); see also SEC v. Heden, 51 F. Supp. 2d

296, 298 (S.D.N.Y. 1999) (“Unlike a preliminary injunction enjoining a violation of the
securities laws, which requires the SEC to make a substantial showing of likelihood of
success as to both a current violation and the risk of repetition, an asset freeze requires a
lesser showing.”) (citations omitted).

Such asset freezes may “apply to non-parties, such as relief defendants allegedly
holding the funds of defendants.” Heden, 51 F. Supp. 2d at 299 (citations omitted). In
these cases, a showing of future statutory violations is not necessary “because [the SEC] is
not accusing the [relief] defendant of any wrongdoing.” Cavanagh, 155 F.3d at 136 (citing
Unifund, 910 F.2d at 1041 (“[T]he freeze order does not place appellants at risk of contempt
in all future securities transactions. It simply assures that any funds that may become due
can be collected.”)); see also Byers, 2009 WL 33434, at *3 (explaining that relief defendants
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“have not been accused of wrongdoing, but are merely in possession of assets or property

that the SEC claims is ill-gotten and seeks to recover.”) (citations omitted).

2. Relief Defendants
“Federal courts may order equitable relief against a person who is not accused of
wrongdoing in a securities enforcement action where that person: (1) has received ill-gotten
funds; and (2) does not have a legitimate claim to those funds.” Cavanagh, 155 F.3d at
136. “The burden rests with the Commission to show that the funds in the possession of

[the relief defendant] are ill-gotten.” FTC v. Bronson Partners, LLC, 674 F. Supp. 2d 373,

392 (D. Conn. 2009) (citations omitted).
“The ill-gotten gains must be linked to the unlawful practices of the liable

defendants.” Bronson Partners, LLC, 674 F. Supp. 2d at 392. Where “it would be difficult,

if not impossible, to trace specific . . . [fraudulently obtained funds], a freeze order need not
be limited . . . to funds that can be directly traced to defendant’s illegal activity [because] . . .
the defendant should not benefit from the fact that he commingled his illegal profits with

other assets.” Byers, 2009 WL 33434, at *3 (citations omitted); see also SEC v. Aragon

Capital Mgmt., LLC, 672 F. Supp. 2d 421, 443 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (holding that tracing

proceeds of illegal funds is unnecessary and, “where tainted funds have been commingled
with potentially legitimate funds, the SEC is entitled to obtain disgorgement from the entire
pool of funds.”).

If disgorgement of “fraudulently obtained profits” becomes necessary, the court is
granted the ability “to determine how and to whom the money will be distributed,” keeping in

mind that “[t]he primary purpose of disgorgement . . . is to deter violations of the securities
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laws by depriving violators of their ill-gotten gains.” SEC v. Fishbach, 133 F.3d 170, 175 (2d

Cir. 1997) (citations omitted). “Although disgorged funds may often go to compensate
securities fraud victims for their losses, such compensation is a distinctly secondary goal.
Thus the measure of losses need not be tied to the losses suffered by defrauded investors .
...0 Id. at 175-76. Rather, the measure of damages revolves around the defendants’
“‘unjust enrichment . . . [with the] court . . . focus[ed] on the extent to which a defendant has

profited from his fraud.” SEC v. Universal Exp., Inc., 646 F. Supp. 2d 552, 563 (S.D.N.Y.

2009) (citations omitted) (hereinafter “Universal Exp. II”).

The second factor is met when “the SEC is likely to be able to show that [the relief

defendant] gave no consideration for the [ill-gotten gains received] . . . . “ Cavanagh, 155

F.3d at 137; see also FTC v. Bronson Partners, LLC, 674 F. Supp. 2d 373, 392 (D. Conn.

2009) (“A relief defendant can show a legitimate claim to the funds received by showing that

some services were performed in consideration for the monies.”); Aragon Capital Mgmt.,

672 F. Supp. 2d at 444 (classifying relief defendants as “gratuitous transferees who had no
legal claim against the pooled funds . . ..”). For legitimate interests to be established, more

than conclusory evidence need be proffered. CRTC v. Kimberlynn Creek Ranch, Inc., 276

F.3d 187, 192 (4th Cir. 2002) (“[A] claimed ownership interest must not only be recognized
in law; it must also be valid in fact. Otherwise, individuals and institutions holding funds on
behalf of wrongdoers would be able to avoid disgorgement . . . simply by stating a claim of

ownership, however specious.”); SEC v. Better Life Club of Am., Inc., 995 F. Supp. 167,

182-83 (D.D.C. 1998) (examining assets of relief defendant and concluding that supposed
payment for an informal loan given without documentation was subject to disgorgement
because “investors received no value on this loan, and it is highly suspect that [the relief
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defendant] gave any value to [the defendant],” but mortgage payments for which the relief
defendant held cancelled checks and a recorded credit for the down payment of a car likely
represented untainted funds which were subject to return to the relief defendant).

Other courts have held that establishment of a debtor-creditor relationship provides

sufficient evidence of a legitimate ownership interest. See Janvey v. Adams, 588 F.3d 831,

835 (5th Cir. 2009) (concluding that receipt of “proceeds pursuant to written certificate of
deposit agreements . . . well before the underlying SEC enforcement action . . . .”
constituted a debtor-creditor relationship which provided a legitimate ownership interest in

relief defendants”); SEC v. Founding Partners Capital Mgmt., 639 F. Supp. 2d 1291, 1294

(M.D. Fla. 2009) (finding a legitimate ownership interest where relief defendant “received
the loan proceeds pursuant to written loan agreements . . . which g[ave the relief defendant]
certain rights and obligations . . . .”).

Regardless of the relationship between the relief defendant and the defendant, “it is
not appropriate to continue [an] asset freeze with respect to the amount . . . .” initially
deposited in the relief defendant’s account or that which was used to purchase a legitimate
investment which was used in a fraudulent manner. Heden, 51 F. Supp. 2d at 302. “There
is no authority for the proposition that the Cavanagh test applies to any assets of a relief

defendant other than the profits from an illegal trade.” Id. at 302 n.4; see also Cavanagh,

155 F.3d at 137 (“[T]he frozen assets are limited to the proceeds of the stock at issue, and
the preliminary injunction has no effect on any assets of [relief defendant’s] that are not the

product of the alleged securities law violations.”).
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3. Joint Ownership
Where a defendant and relief defendant jointly own an asset, the central inquiry
concerns “the element of control [implicating] . . . the concept of equitable ownership.” In re
Vebeliunas, 332 F.3d 85, 92 (2d Cir. 2003) (citations omitted).” Such ownership is
established when “an individual . . . exercises considerable authority over the [asset] . . .

acting as though its assets are his alone to manage and distribute . . . .” Id. (internal

quotation marks and citations omitted); see also Whiting v. Dow Chemical Co., 523 F.2d

680 (2d Cir. 1975) (“In a traditional sense, in the absence of a statutory definition, a
beneficial owner would be a person who does not have the legal title to the securities but
who is, nevertheless, the beneficiary of a trust or joint venture . . . .”).

In Heden, the court considered whether a continued freeze on relief defendants’
accounts was appropriate where relatives of the relief defendants used their accounts to
broker transactions which allegedly violated the Securities and Exchange Act. SEC v.
Heden, 51 F. Supp. 2d 296 (S.D.N.Y. 1999). The court discussed the actions of two
different defendants and relief defendant accounts. The first defendant claimed ownership
over, and had a power of attorney for, the relief defendant’s account for at least seven
years, repeatedly used the relief defendant’s principal in the account to facilitate stock
purchases, made transactions between his personal accounts and that of the relief

defendant, and made such transactions in the face of specific prohibitions from defendant’s

'® This case also discusses piercing a trust pursuant to the alter ego theory under
New York law. Vebeliunas, 332 F.3d at 91. The court held that, in those cases where
New York courts allowed a trust to be pierced, there was a showing “that the respective
parties used trusts to conceal assets or engaged in fraudulent conveyances to shield
funds from adverse judgments.” Id.
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employer. Id. at 300. The second defendant had full control over the relief defendant’s
account, though it had only been in existence for a month, but the second defendant had no
interest in the account, had not benefitted from the account, and had not used the account
as his own. Id. at 301. The court held that:

If an asset belonging to a relief defendant is, in reality, also an asset of a

defendant, then the freeze sought is against the defendant’s assets. . .

Accordingly, it is inappropriate to apply the two-part Cavanagh test to

determine whether a ‘relief defendant’s’ principal should remain frozen.

Rather, [the court] need only determine whether the SEC has met its burden

of showing that it is likely to succeed on the merits.

Heden, 51 F. Supp. 2d at 299-300. In determining joint ownership, the Heden court
considered a defendant’s control over the asset, the length of time the asset had been held,
whether the defendant had an interest in and benefitted from the asset, whether the
defendant had transferred assets from his name into the asset, whether he or she
contributed to acquire the asset initially, and whether the defendant ever withdrew any
funds from the asset. Id. at 301. Where a defendant treated an asset as his own, the asset
should be treated as that of the defendant and the Cavanagh test becomes irrelevant. Id.
at 300.

However, the Second Circuit also examined a similar issue with respect to piercing
the veil of a trust in which the trustee’s husband had been fraudulently using the trust as his
own. Vebeliunas, 332 F.3d 85. In that case, the wife created an irrevokable trust, to which
she was the sole trustee, and to which her husband was a 20% beneficiary of the
distributions from the trust. Id. at 88. The husband nevertheless fraudulently represented

to various creditors that he was the full beneficiary and had present access and ownership

over the trust’s corpus. Id. at 88-89. Criminal and bankruptcy proceedings ensued. Id. at
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89. The Second Circuit refused to pierce the trust on behalf of the husband’s creditors
because even though the husband “exercised control over the trust and its property . . . and
paid virtually all of the expenses associated with the . . . trust . . . , spouses routinely
administer each other’s assets and conduct business on behalf of each other””® and such
actions did not confer equitable ownership of the trust’s corpus upon the husband.
Vebelinunas, 332 F.3d at 93. “The mere fact that [the husband] acted as an agent for his

wife does not divest her of her equitable ownership . . ..” Verbelinunas, 332 F.3d at 93.

4. Adverse Inferences
On February 1-3 and 12, 2010, David Smith testified under oath in the FINRA
proceeding and the transcript of that testimony was offered in evidence here by the SEC.
Pl. Exs. 20-23. The SEC sought the testimony of McGinn and David Smith for the hearing
on this motion.* Both declined to testify on the ground of their Fifth Amendment privilege
against self-incrimination, and, in lieu of an appearance at the hearing, both signed

declarations stating that they asserted their Fifth Amendment privilege as to all matters

' The Second Circuit also outlined a litany of factors which, it concluded, did not
establish equitable ownership by the husband. Vebeliunas, 332 F.3d at 92. The court
stated that “none of the [trust] benefits flowed solely to [the husband]. Rather, all of the
benefits . . . flowed jointly to him and his wife, which is consistent with [the wife’s] equitable
ownership of the property.” Id. Moreover, the husband’s receipt and use of the trust
corpus, primarily property and rent proceeds, “did not evidence control over the property,
as spouses routinely share certain financial assets, such as streams of income . . . [and] a
homeowner would be expected to allow her spouse . . . to live rent-free in her home.” Id.
Lastly, as New York is not a community property state, actions such as filing joint tax
returns regarding the property in question did not indicate that equitable ownership was
granted to the husband. Id.

*The Trust also sought to call David Smith as its witness. See Trust Mem. of Law
(Dkt. No. 80) at 1.
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alleged in the complaint and in the pending motion for a preliminary injunction. PI. Exs. 128,
129. The SEC contends that on this motion, it is entitled to adverse inferences against the
defendants as well as against Lynn Smith and the Trust from the invocation of privilege by
McGinn and David Smith. SEC Mem. of Law (Dkt. No, 74). Lynn Smith and the Trust
oppose the contention. Dkt. Nos. 79, 80.

A party testifying in a civil proceeding retains the right under the Fifth Amendment to
refuse to answer questions if the answers might tend to incriminate him or her, but an

1113

adverse party may then be entitled to have the trier of fact “draw a negative inference from

the invocation of that right.”” Wechsler v. Hunt Health Sys., Ltd., No. 94-CV- 8294(PKL),

2003 WL 21998980, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 22, 2003) (quoting Baxter v. Palmigiano, 425 U.S.

308, 318-20 (1976)); see also Brink’s, Inc. v. City of New York, 717 F.2d 700, 710 (2d Cir.

1983). Any inference drawn from the invocation of the privilege must be reasonable under

the circumstances. See Brink’s, Inc., 717 F.2d at 710. Thus, on these motions, the

invocation of the Fifth Amendment privilege by David Smith and McGinn will permit
whatever negative inferences are reasonable under the circumstances in favor of the SEC

at least as to the defendants. Willingham v. County of Albany, 593 F. Supp. 2d 446, 452

(N.D.N.Y. 2006).

The circumstances presented here, however, include two significant obstacles to the
SEC’s contention. First, David Smith testified for four days at the FINRA proceedings only
two months before the complaint herein was filed. The transcript of David Smith’s testimony
from that proceeding comprises 1,091 pages. PIl. Exs. 20-23. The FINRA investigation and
the allegations in this case substantially overlap and the questions answered by David
Smith during his FINRA testimony address matters about which the SEC sought David
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Smith’s testimony at the hearing in this case. Compare PI. Ex. 20-23 with PI. Ex. 128 at q
6(A)-(Il).. The purpose underlying the allowance of an adverse inference in civil cases is
equitable, not punitive, and serves to vitiate the prejudice to the party denied evidence by

invocation of the privilege. See United States v. 4003-05 5" Ave., 55 F.3d 78, 82-83 (2d

Cir. 1995). In those instances where David Smith answered a question during the FINRA
hearing, the SEC has not been denied David Smith’s testimony as to an answered question
and no basis exists for an adverse inference there. Thus, the SEC is entitled to adverse
inferences only to the extent that the questions to which David Smith asserted the privilege
were not otherwise answered during his testimony in the FINRA investigation.

To that limited extent, then, the SEC is entitled to adverse inferences against McGinn
and David Smith. They have consented to the relief sought in this motion, however, and the
question of what inferences may be drawn against them is largely moot. The second
impediment relates to the SEC’s contention that adverse inferences should be drawn

against Lynn Smith and the Trust and is not moot. In LiButti v. United States, 107 F.3d 110

(2d Cir. 1997), the Second Circuit held that where one party declines to answer questions in
a civil case on the basis of the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination, adverse
inferences may be drawn against another associated with the witness depending on the
circumstances of the particular case. Id. at 120-21. The court identified “a number of non-
exclusive factors” to guide this determination, including the nature of the relevant
relationships, the degree of control over the non-testifying witness, the compatibility of the
interests between the non-testifying witness and the party, and the role of the non-testifying
witness in the litigation. 1d. at 123-24. However, “[w]hether these or other circumstances

unique to a particular case are considered by the trial court, the overarching concern is
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fundamentally whether the adverse inference is trustworthy under all of the circumstances
and will advance the search for the truth.” 1d. at 124.

Although LiButti concerned inferences to be drawn from a non-party’s invocation of

the privilege, its analysis is equally applicable here where the SEC seeks to apply adverse
inferences from a party’s invocation of the privilege against two purported relief defendants

with interests in the outcome of this motion but who are non-parties. See Willingham, 593

F. supp. 2d at 453 (applying adverse inferences to one party but not others under LiButti);

John Paul Mitchell Sys. v. Quality King Distrib., Inc., 106 F. Supp. 2d 462, 471 (S.D.N.Y.

2000) (relying on LiButti to support determination to apply adverse inferences against
defendants’ company on motion for a preliminary injunction).

As to the first LiButti factor, David Smith has been married to Lynn Smith for forty-two

years. They closely share marital, familial, financial, and social ties. For purposes of this
analysis, this relationship could not be closer. As to the Trust, David Smith was a co-
grantor of the Trust, has always advised on and managed its investments, helped select a
childhood friend as its first trustee, assumed responsibility for the Trust’s tax returns and
payments, and paid those taxes without reimbursement on occasion. Therefore, the
relationship between David Smith and the Trust was also very close. While David Smith
exercised control over Lynn Smith’s finances and influence over those of the Trust, it cannot
be said that either Lynn Smith or the Trust exercised any degree of control over David

Smith.?' The interests of David Smith and of Lynn Smith and the Trust are, and have

*'The Stock Account was always held solely in Lynn Smith’s name and, therefore, it
was within her power to control David Smith’s management of the account. There is no
credible evidence that Lynn Smith ever did so, however, perhaps due to the account’s
impressive growth under David Smith’s management. In these circumstances, Lynn
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always been, identical. Finally, David Smith plays a central role both in this litigation and,
more importantly here, in the financial affairs of Lynn Smith and the Trust as a whole.

Balancing these factors, it is clear that neither Lynn Smith nor the Trust controlled
David Smith for purposes of this analysis. Nevertheless, given the nature of the
relationships, the complete identity of interests, and David Smith’s role both in this litigation
and as to Lynn Smith and the Trust, the absence of significant control over David Smith is
far outweighed by the other factors. Accordingly, any adverse inferences which can be
drawn from David Smith’s invocation of his privilege should be applied against Lynn Smith
and the Trust.

The question then becomes what adverse inferences should be drawn and what
evidentiary weight should they carry. The SEC contends that the following three inferences
should be drawn:

First, adverse inferences should be drawn against Smith and McGinn

concerning the evidence regarding likelihood of success on the merits.

Second, adverse inferences should be drawn against David Smith concerning the

evidence regarding the David and Lynn Smith Irrevocable Trust, the Stock

Account, the Checking Account, and the Vero Beach house; and against

Timothy McGinn as to the Niskayuna house.

Third, adverse inferences should be drawn against Lynn Smith, based on

David Smith’s assertion of the Fifth Amendment, with regard to all issues

concerning the Trust, the Stock Account, the Checking Account, and the Vero

Beach house
Pl. Mem. of Law (Dkt. No. 74) at 1. These contentions, however, appear to confuse

evidentiary inferences with issue preclusion. An inference permits a finder of fact to

conclude that evidence of a particular fact exists which is unfavorable to the party against

Smith’s failure to exercise any control for decades over David Smith’s management of the
Stock Account manifests the absence of control.

24




Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS-DRH Document 86 Filed 07/07/10 Page 25 of 43

whom the inference is drawn. See Henning v. Union Pacific R. Co., 530 F.3d 1206, 1219-

20 (10™ Cir. 2008); An adverse inference is permissive, not mandatory, and an adverse

inference alone is insufficient to establish entitlement to relief. See JHP & Associates, LLC

v. N.L.R.B., 360 F.3d 904, 910 (8" Cir. 2004) (holding that adverse inference rule is
permissive); 3M v. Pribyl, 259 F.3d 587, 606 n. 5 (7th Cir. 2001) (explaining that the adverse
inference which the jury could permissibly have drawn did not relieve the plaintiff of the

burden of proving the elements of its claims); SEC v. Colello, 139 F.3d 674, 677-78 (9" Cir.

1998) (holding that adverse inference alone insufficient to support a motion for summary

judgment); Flinzler v. Marriott Intern., 81 F.3d 1148, 1158-59 (1% Cir. 1996) (holding that

adverse inferences are permissive, not mandatory); Daniels v. Pipefitters' Ass'n Local Union

No. 597, 983 F.2d 800, 802 (7th Cir. 1993) (finding that the adverse inference to be drawn
from the invocation of the Fifth Amendment is permissive rather than mandatory).

Although immaterial in light of the consent of David Smith and McGinn to the
preliminary injunction, an adverse inference is appropriate against them as to the likelihood
of success on the merits on this motion. Lynn Smith has nominally opposed that element of
the SEC’s motion. However, it pertains solely to the named defendants and requires the
SEC to demonstrate that it is more likely than not that it will prevail on the merits of this
action as to the defendants. Lynn Smith is named only as a relief defendant and is
involved, therefore, only in questions of relief if the SEC prevails on its claims. The Trust
does not oppose the SEC’s motion as to that element. An adverse inference against David
Smith and McGinn on this element is also supported by equitable considerations where
such inferences are drawn against parties declining to provide evidence rather than against
third parties. For the same reason as well as the existence and strength of evidence
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corroborating those inferences also appear reliable.
A different conclusion is compelled as to Lynn Smith and the Trust, however. While

adverse inferences against them are permissible under LiButti as discussed supra, other

factors lead to the conclusion that they should not be drawn. First, as to Lynn Smith, David
Smith’s testimony at the FINRA proceeding included answers to certain questions relevant
here. For example, David Smith testified that he and his wife had maintained separate
finances for twenty years although they always filed joint tax returns. PI. Ex. 20 at 278-79.
David Smith declined to answer other questions about his wife’s finances. Id. at 279-92.
Serious questions exist about the credibility of David Smith’s limited testimony as they do for
Lynn Smith’s testimony. See note 12 supra. However, as to those questions which are
relevant here and which David Smith answered in the FINRA proceeding, the SEC has
obtained sworn answers rendering unwarranted adverse inferences as to those matters.

Moreover, not only the SEC but also Lynn Smith and the Trust were deprived of the
testimony of David Smith. As noted, the Trust had served a subpoena on David Smith to
testify at the hearing on this motion. Trust Mem. at 1. David Smith’s invocation of his
Fifth Amendment privilege thus denied his testimony to the parties against whom the SEC
seeks the adverse inferences, just as the SEC was denied. Therefore, in these
circumstances, imposing adverse inferences against Lynn Smith and the Trust would be
inequitable and the reliability of any such inferences is substantially undermined.

Finally, on the record of this case, the importance of the adverse inferences is
insignificant. The exhibits include voluminous records of the transactions of the defendants,
Lynn Smith, and the Trust. The record also includes the testimony of numerous witnesses,
live and by deposition and affidavit, during three days of testimony. In these circumstances,
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that evidence, particularly the documentary evidence, far outweighs the probative value of
any inferences to be drawn from David Smith’s invocation of privilege. Therefore, whether
adverse inferences are, or are not drawn, as to any matter at issue on this motion would not
affect the outcome in any respect.

Accordingly, adverse inferences from the invocation of the Fifth Amendment privilege
against self-incrimination by David Smith and McGinn will be drawn against those two

defendants but not against Lynn Smith or the Trust.

B. Likelihood of Success
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act “prohibit[s] fraud, manipulation, or insider trading .

..o 15 U.S.C. §78;j; see also Ganino v. Citizens Utilities Co., 228 F.3d 154, 161 (2d Cir.

2000) (“Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act bars conduct involving manipulation or deception
... that [is] intended to mislead investors by artificially affecting market activity, and
deception being misrepresentation, or nondisclosure intended to deceive.”).?? Also, Section
17(a) of the Securities Act functions in conjunction with Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act

to “prohibit fraud in the offer, purchase, and sale of securities.” SEC v. Global Telecom

Servs,, L.L.C., 325 F. Supp. 2d 94, 111 (D. Conn. 2004) (citations omitted). Similarly,

Section 15(c) of the Exchange Act “prohibits a broker or dealer from using any manipulative

or deceptive device . . . to induce or attempt to induce the purchase or sale of any security.”

2 Rule 10b-5 prohibits the same conduct in connection with the purchase or sale of
securities as does § 10(b) of the Exchange Act. See Cyber Media Group, Inc. v. Island
Mortgage Network, Inc., 183 F. Supp. 2d 559, 569 (E.D.N.Y. 2002) (citing IBM Corp. Sec.
Litig., 163 F.3d 102, 106 (2d Cir. 1998)) (discussing the test which applies to both
provisions).
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SEC v. George, 426 F.3d 786, 792 (6th Cir. 2005).

To prove any, or all, of these violations, the SEC must establish that the defendant
made material false statements or omissions®, with scienter®, in connection with the
securities exchange. See Ganino, 228 F.3d at 161(holding that for a Section 10(b) violation
the SEC must prove “that the defendant, in connection with the purchase or sale of
securities, made a materially false statement or omitted a material fact, with scienter, and
that the plaintiff’s reliance on the defendant’s action caused injury to the plaintiff.”) (citations

omitted); Global Telecom., 325 F. Supp. 2d at 111(concluding that in order to prevail on a §

17(a) violation the SEC must show that “defendant (1) ma[de] a material misrepresentation
or a material omission as to which he had a duty to speak, or used a fraudulent device; (2)
with scienter; (3) in connection with the purchase or sale of securities.”) (citations omitted);
George, 426 F.3d at 792 (“The elements of a § 15(c)(1) violation are the same as those for
a violation of [Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5], with a similar scienter
requirement that a statement be made with knowledge or reasonable grounds to believe
that it is untrue or misleading.”) (internal quotations and citations omitted) .

“Section 5 of the Securities Act prohibits issuers, underwriters and dealers from

> A statement or fact “is material if there is a substantial likelihood that a
reasonable [investor] would consider it important . . . .” Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S.
224, 232 (1988) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

** Scienter is defined as an “intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud.” Ernst &
Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 193 (1976). In the Second Circuit, scienter can be
established by reckless conduct. See e.g., Rolf v. Blyth, Eastman Dillon & Co., 570 F.2d
38, 44-48 (2d Cir. 1978). Such conduct “is, at the least, conduct which is highly
unreasonable and which represents an extreme departure from the standards of ordinary
care to the extent that the danger was either known to the defendant or so obvious that
the defendant must have been aware of it.” Id. at 47.
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selling or offering to sell unregistered securities.” SEC v. Tecumseh Holdings Corp., No.

03-CV-5490, 2009 WL 4975263, at * 2 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 22, 2009) (citations omitted). In
order to establish a violation of this section the SEC must prove “(1) [t]hat the defendant
directly or indirectly sold or offered to sell securities®; (2) that no registration statement was
in effect for the subject securities; and (3) that interstate means were used in connection

with the offer or sale.” SEC v. Universal Exp., Inc., 475 F. Supp. 2d 412, 422 (S.D.N.Y.

2007) (hereinafter “Universal Exp. I”) (citations omitted). “Liability does not require that the

defendant actually passed title of the security. Any person engaged in steps necessary to
the distribution of the unregistered security is liable under Section 5.” Tecumseh, 2009 WL
4975263, at *3 (citations omitted).

Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers Act “prohibits investment advisers from
employing any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any client or prospective client . . . [or]
engaging in any transaction, practice, or course of business which operates as a fraud or

deceit upon any client or prospective client.” SEC v. Treadway, 430 F. Supp. 2d 293, 338

(S.D.N.Y. 2006) (citing 15 U.S.C. § 80(b)(6)(1) & (2)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

» A Second Circuit test, adopted by the Supreme Court, dictates the method by
which the court should “decid[e] whether a transaction involves a ‘security.” Reves v.
Ernst & Young, 494 U.S. 56, 66 (1990). Securities are defined first by the motivation of
the seller, stating that “[i]f the seller’s purpose is to raise money for the general use of a
business enterprise or to finance substantial investments and the buyer is interested
primarily in the profit the note is expected to generate, the instrument is likely to be a
‘security.”” Id. Second, the court evaluates “the plan of distribution.” Id. (internal question
marks and citations omitted). Third, the court determines “the reasonable expectations of
the investing public,” naming those instruments securities to which the public attaches
such a definition. Id. (citations omitted). Finally, the court is to consider “whether some
factor such as the existence of another regulatory scheme significantly reduces the risk of
the instrument, thereby rendering application of the Securities Acts unnecessary.” Id. at
67 (citations omitted).
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“Section 206(1) requires fraudulent intent, while § 206(2) requires only negligence.”

Id. (citations omitted). By enacting this provision, Congress “establishe[d] a statutory
fiduciary duty for investment advisers to act for the benefit of their clients, requiring advisers
to exercise the utmost good faith in dealing with clients, to disclose all material facts, and to

employ reasonable care to avoid misleading clients.” SEC v. Moran, 922 F. Supp. 867,

895-96 (S.D.N.Y. 1996) (citations omitted). Additionally, § 206(4) also prohibits investment
advisors from “directly or indirectly . . . engag[ing] in any transaction, practice, or course of
business which is fraudulent, deceptive, or manipulative.” 15 U.S.C. §80b-6(4).%°

Finally, § 7(a) of the Investment Company Act prohibits interstate commerce, namely
the offering or selling of securities, by unregistered investment companies. 15 U.S.C. §

80a-7.

1. The Defendants
From the unrebutted submissions of the SEC, the SEC has demonstrated a
substantial likelihood of success on its claims against McGinn, David Smith, and the other
named defendants. See, e.g., Mehraban Decl. |; PI. Exs. 1-67. Moreover, as discussed

supra, adverse inferences are drawn against McGinn, David Smith, and the other

* Section 206(4) is applicable to pooled investment vehicles. 17 C.F.R. §
275.206(4)-8. Pooled investment vehicles are “any investment company as defined in
section 3(a) of the Investment Company Act . ...” Id. § 275.206(4)-8(b). An investment
company, pursuant to the Investment Act, is one which “is or holds itself out as being
engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing,
reinvesting, or trading in securities.” 15 U.S.C. § 80a-3. Liability may be found where an
investment adviser makes a false statement of material fact to an investor, realized or
prospective, or fails to disclose material facts necessary to make statements made to
investors be truthful. 17 C.F.R. § 275.206(4)-8(a).
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defendants, which were controlled by McGinn and David Smith, from the invocation of the
Fifth Amendment privilege by McGinn and David Smith. Finally, all defendants have
consented to the entry of the relief sought by the SEC in this motion. Accordingly, the SEC
has satisfied its burden of proof on this element of its motion and the motion is granted as

to all defendants.

2. Lynn Smith

The SEC has argued that Lynn Smith is an appropriate relief defendant and thus the
asset freeze should continue as to assets held presently in her name alone.. Those assets
include the Stock Account, the Vero Beach home, the Great Sacandaga camp, and Lynn
Smith’s checking account. In the alternative, the SEC also contends that David Smith is a
joint owner of the Stock Account, the Vero Beach home, and the checking account so that,
even if Lynn Smith is not properly named as a relief defendant, these assets are still a
personal asset of his which should remain frozen. Lynn Smith argues that the SEC has
failed to establish that she is appropriately named as a relief defendant as these assets do
not contain or derive from ill-gotten gains and she has always maintained sole ownership

and control of them.

a. Relief Defendant
In this instance, Lynn Smith has likely received ill-gotten gains throughout the
multiple deposits into her stock account after 2003 when the fraudulent scheme involving

the Four Funds alleged by the SEC commenced. Since 2003, Lynn Smith has been
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refunded over $1 million from MS & Co. and its related individuals and entities in loan
repayments. These payments include $375,000 in December 2007 (T. 434); $325,000 in
June and July of 2009 (T. 98-99, 115-18, 381-82); $100,000 in March 2010 (T. 438-39); and
$185,000 in October 2006 and May 2007 (T. 124-25). These payments derived from
fraudulently obtained investments. As such, Lynn Smith received loan repayments from ill-
gotten gains. Because all of these payments were commingled with potentially legitimate
funds, separating the legitimately held funds in the Stock Account and the checking account
from the fraudulently obtained funds would be nearly impossible and the SEC is entitled to

freeze the entirety of the accounts. Aragon Capital Mgmt., 672 F. Supp. 2d at 443.

Moreover, Lynn Smith has failed to establish a legitimate interest in the return of the
funds which she received from MS & Co. after 2003. It is undisputed that Lynn Smith
provided McGinn Smith with multiple loans, the number and amounts of which increased in
recent years. T.330. Lynn Smith testified that she was a bona fide creditor and was
entitled to repayment of those loans with interest. T. 378-81. However, Lynn Smith was
unaware how many loans she has made, to whom the loans were made, what they were
for, or what the interest rates and payment schedules were. T. 330-32, 409-11.%" Lynn
Smith made two loans to McGinn totaling $915,000 ($900,000 in 2004 and another $15,000
in 2009) and was only recently repaid $185,000, $85,000 in October 2006 and $100,000 in
May 2007. T. 124-25, 278-79, 431-33; PI. Ex. 75. Additionally, Lynn Smith made loans of
$2 million $6 million for which she had no recollection of terms or conditions. T. 339, 345-

46, 379. Such conduct belies any claim of a legitimate creditor-debtor relationship.

“’See also note 13 supra.
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Accordingly, these claims by Lynn Smith are rejected. Kimberlynn Creek Ranch, 276 F.3d at

192.

In support of her claims of being a bona fide creditor, Lynn Smith testified that she
always made the final decision as to whether to approve any loans or transactions from the
Stock Account. These decisions were memorialized in letters of authorization signed by
Lynn Smith which provided consent for monetary transfers from the Stock Account to third
parties. When Lynn Smith pre-signed the letters of authorization, the forms were blank as
to the amount of the transfers from the Stock Account. T. 219. The forms were pre-signed,
in batches of 10-15 at a time, or Lynn Smith’s signature was signed by David Smith which
David Smith would use at his option. T. 341-43, 384-86. No other client provided pre-
signed authorization forms to MS & Co. to be utilized whenever deemed appropriate. T.
191, 218. These authorizations were maintained by one of David Smith’s subordinates for
use by David Smith. T. 384-86, 413-14. Such uninformed, casual, and informal
transactions in the amounts at issue here corroborate the conclusion that there was no
consideration and no contractual relationship which would entitle Lynn Smith to repayment

as an arms length, disinterested creditor. Founding Partners Capital, 639 F. Supp. 2d at

1294; Better Life Club, 995 F. Supp. at 182-83.

Therefore, the SEC has demonstrated a substantial likelihood of success in proving
that Lynn Smith is an appropriate relief defendant with respect to the Stock Account and
that her Stock Account includes ill-gotten gains to which she has no legitimate claim of
ownership. Accordingly, the SEC’s motion as to the Stock Account on this ground is

granted and the Stock Account shall remain frozen.
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b. Equitable or Joint Ownership

The SEC contends that Lynn Smith’s assets are also subject to its motion because
they were jointly owned by David Smith. As to the Stock Account, even if Lynn Smith is not
an appropriate relief defendant or the legitimate funds in her Stock Account could be
separated, it is of no consequence because David Smith was the joint owner of the Stock
Account. Since the Stock Account was one of his assets, “it is inappropriate to apply the
two-part Cavanagh test . . . [r]ather, [the court] need only determine whether the SEC has
met its burden of showing that it is likely to succeed on the merits.” Heden, 51 F. Supp. 2d
at 299-300. To determine whether David Smith was the joint owner of the Stock Account,
various factors must be considered. They include the length of time the Stock Account was
established and David Smith’s access to that account, whether David Smith had an interest
in and benefitted from the Stock Account, and whether David Smith freely transferred his
own assets into the Stock Account or withdrew the account’s assets for his purposes.
Heden, 51 F. Supp. 2d at 301.

The Stock Account has been in existence for approximately forty-two years. Lynn
Smith Aff. at ] 13, 14; T. 326, 355-58. David Smith had unfettered control over the
account, acting as its broker, for approximately thirty-five years. T. 360. As previously
discussed, David Smith directed transfers from the account at his sole option by the blank
letters of authorization which Lynn Smith signed. The letters of authorization were used at
the direction of David Smith to transfer money from the account into the MS & Co.-related
businesses for bridge loans and for operating expenses usually in the range of $100,000 -
$1 million. See. e.g., T.339-40, 433 (bridge loan to MS Funding for $375,000); T. 341

(bridge loan to TDM Benchmark of $100,000); T. 437-38 (bridge loan to TDMM Cable
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Funding for $366,000); T. 341-42. For these reasons, it is clear that David Smith had
complete access to and control over the account and that such access and control were
maintained for decades.

Additionally, David Smith benefitted from the Stock Account. First, the account was
used to purchase jointly owned residences including their primary residences and vacation
homes in Vermont and Florida and finance their children’s college educations. T. 279-81,
328-29, 350-51, 368-72, 404. Furthermore, the account was used to fund MS & Co.’s
operating expenses as MS & Co. increasingly experienced difficulties meeting its obligations
in 2008-10. T. 329-31, 378. These loans ensured that MS & Co. would continue to operate.
T.410-11. Thus, David Smith utilized the Stock Account as a personal line of credit for his
business interests to further his personal and professional endeavors.

Finally, the record establishes that David Smith treated the Stock Account as his
own. As previously discussed, David Smith used the account to make bridge loans to keep
his business going. Furthermore, David Smith occasionally deposited his assets into the
stock account. In 2009, David Smith directed that $38,430 be deposited into the Stock
Account, proceeds from assets held by David Smith in his name alone since the late 1990s.
Dkt. No. 23, Lynn Smith Aff. at §[33(a); T.298, 435, 474-75. Additionally, David Smith also
had the funds of a trust, totaling $326,304 and a note receivable totaling $410,000, both in
his name alone, deposited in the Stock Account. T. 290-92, 296, 436-37, 475-76; PI. Ex.
118. Thus, David Smith also deposited his personal assets into the Stock Account.

The record establishes that David Smith acted almost identically to the defendant,
Goran Heden, in the Heden case. Like Heden, Smith “viewed and treated the [stock]
account and his own account[s] interchangeably.” Heden, 51 F. Supp. 2d at 300. Smith
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had access and control over the account for decades, he had both a personal and
professional interest in the Stock Account and benefitted from its funds in both his home-life
and career, and he commingled funds between the Stock Account and his business and
personal accounts. As such, the SEC need not establish that Lynn Smith is a proper relief
defendant but only that there is a likelihood of success against David Smith to continue the
asset freeze as to the Stock Account. The SEC has made such a showing. Therefore, in
the alternative, the SEC’s motion for as to the stock account is granted on this ground as
well.

The record as to the Vero Beach home and the checking account in Lynn Smith’s
name is essentially the same. The Vero Beach home was purchased with proceeds derived
from the Stock Account and was held jointly by the Smiths until 2009 when it was
transferred into the name of Lynn Smith alone without fair consideration. The Smiths
maintained a joint checking account throughout their marriage from which they paid their
various expenses. Also in 2009, Lynn Smith opened a checking account in her name for
the first time and thereafter deposited funds and paid expenses into and out of the account
which had previously been deposited into and paid from the joint checking account. These
actions in 2009 followed the commencement of the FINRA proceedings in which David
Smith faced the distinct possibility that his assets could be seized to pay judgments
awarded to investors. The two assets were treated no differently by the Smiths after the
2009 transfers and were at all time used jointly by the Smiths for their mutual benefit. Thus,
the SEC has demonstrated a likelihood of success in proving that these assets were jointly
owned by David Smith and that the 2009 transfers into Lynn Smith’s name alone were
solely for the fraudulent purpose of shielding David Smith’s assets from seizure. The SEC’s
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motion as to these assets is also granted.

As to the Great Sacandaga Lake camp, the record demonstrates without
contradiction that this property was inherited by Lynn Smith from her father in 1969,
remained in her name alone since that time, David Smith’s only interest in the asset was
periodically to vacation at the property with his family, and David Smith never controlled the
asset in any way. Thus, on this record, there exists no likelihood of success that the SEC
will demonstrate that David Smith was a joint, equitable, or beneficial owner of the property.
Therefore, the SEC’s motion as to the Great Sacandaga Lake camp is denied and the asset

freeze in the TRO as to the camp is vacated.

3. The Trust
The SEC contends that the Trust is an appropriate relief defendant and, that in the
alternative, even if it is not properly named as a relief defendant, David Smith was a
beneficial owner of the trust over which he asserted dominion and control. The Trust
contends that it cannot be pierced under the alter ego theory and that David Smith is not the

equitable owner of the Trust.

a. Relief Defendant
The SEC has failed to demonstrate a likelihood that it will prove that the Trust is an
appropriate relief defendant. First, the SEC has not established that the Trust was created
with ill-gotten gains. It is undisputed that the Trust originated from bank stock in the Stock

Account purchased in the early 1990s well prior to 2003 when the SEC alleges the scheme
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began here. T. 349. In fact, none of the named entities except MS & Co. existed at that
time. T.363. Thus, there is no proof that fraudulently obtained funds were deposited into
the Stock Account prior to the purchase of the bank stock in the early 1990s.

This stock was untouched for the fourteen years it remained in the Stock Account
while it grew in value from $400,000 to over $4 million by market forces alone. No
testimony or proof was offered that additional capital was invested into the stock or that the
portfolio was otherwise modified since the 1990s. Accordingly, this stock investment
represents untainted funds easily identifiable and severable from the stock account as a
whole. See Heden, 51 F. Supp. 2d at 302 & n.4 (explaining that it is inappropriate to freeze
assets initially used to purchase legitimate investments, regardless of the authenticity of the
later transfers with the stock, but, the subsequently earned proceeds of the stock, if

fraudulently obtained, may represent ill-gotten gains); Better Life Club, 995 F. Supp. 182-83

(finding mortgage payments and trade-in credit untainted and provable funds that were
probably reimbursable since they were not ill-gotten). As such, the Cavanagh factors
cannot be fulfilled because the Trust was neither created from nor in possession of ill-gotten
funds.

Second, there is no evidence that the purchase or sale of the bank stock was
fraudulent or otherwise illegal. By all accounts, the stock was purchased for value. Thus,
appropriate consideration was provided for the purchase and the Smiths had a legitimate
interest in the eventual growth, sale, and proceeds of the bank stock at a time predating the

commencement of the scheme alleged herein. See, e,.g., Cavanagh, 155 F.3d at 137

(explaining that a legitimate interest in funds arises when relief defendants can demonstrate
that they gave consideration in the exchange). Therefore, the SEC has failed to
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demonstrate a likelihood of success on this ground that the Trust is an appropriate relief
defendant as the SEC has failed to prove that the Trust received or was created with ill-

gotten gains or that it had no legitimate claim to its corpus.

b. Equitable or Joint Ownership
The SEC has also failed to demonstrate that David Smith was an equitable owner in
the Trust Account. The record is devoid of any proof that David Smith “exercise[d]
considerable authority over [the trust] to the point of completely disregarding [its] form and

acting as though its assets [were] his alone to manage and distribute . . ..” Inr

0]

Vebeliunas, 332 F.3d at 92. David Smith acted as the broker for the Trust. See T. 556
(explaining that the current trustee believes that a prudent trustee would hire an investment
advisor to preserve, protect, and grow the corpus of the trust). The original trustee, Urbelus,
possessed the authority to utilize a broker to assist him in his duty to preserve the Trust
corpus. As trustee, Urbelus retained the final authority for approving distributions and
authorizations. T. 418. While David Smith advised him on the appropriate assets to buy
and sell, Urbelus provided the final consent and signed the appropriate authorizations. T.
418. Unlike the Stock Account, there were no pre-signed forms from Urbelus that David
Smith could use at any time. T. 216. Each suggested transaction was discussed, a form
was sent from David Smith to Urbelus, Urbelus signed the form, and the requested action
was taken soon thereafter. Therefore, David Smith did not exercise authority over the Trust
but acted as an advisor and broker. Urbelus was indisputably the one who maintained
control of the assets.

Furthermore, David Smith did not distribute the assets to himself and the record does
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not support the conclusion that David Smith considered the Trust his own property. On
occasion, David and Lynn Smith provided their children with financial support, presumably
including when they paid the Trust’s taxes, for the stated benefit of conserving the trust
corpus and assisting their children. T. 135-37, 145-49, 187-88, 399. Such tax payments
from David Smith for the Trust and, by extension, his children are insufficient to establish

equitable ownership. In re Vebeliunas, 332 F.3d at 93 (refusing to pierce a trust based on

equitable ownership even though the husband paid all expenses of the trust because
“spouses routinely administer each other’s assets and conduct business on behalf of each
other.”).

David Smith received money from the Trust on one occasion which was unrelated to
the payment of the Trust’s taxes. However, that distribution was requested and authorized
by his son, Jeffrey, a beneficiary of the trust. T. 398, 513-16. Because the Trust had
virtually no limits on the types of distributions the beneficiaries could request, the money
was properly requested and provided. T.534-35, 560. Once Jeffrey Smith’s request was
approved by the trustee, he was free to use it as he saw fit, including sharing it with his
parents. T. 398, 560. He used the money to help his parents meet their tax obligations.
This action is insufficient to establish control and ownership by David Smith. Moreover, this
single use of the Trust for the benefit of David Smith differs materially from the pattern of
such use of the Stock Account over a period of years. Furthermore, even though a benefit
was temporarily conferred, this assistance was still insufficient to act as total reimbursement
for all of the financial help David and Lynn provided to the Trust for the prior payments of
the Trust’s taxes. No other distributions were requested or provided to David Smith. Thus,
the Trust’s benefits did not flow to David Smith and he did not exercise control over them
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such that he treated the corpus as his own.

Accordingly, there is no likelihood that the SEC will prove that David Smith was the
beneficial owner of the Trust. Therefore, the SEC’s motion as to the Trust is denied and the
Trust’s motion to vacate the asset freeze in the TRO as to the Trust is granted. While the
Trust also seeks an award of attorney’s fees and costs incurred in connection with this
proceeding, it has offered no authority for such an award. Finding that the SEC acted to
freeze the Trust in good faith and with sufficient cause, the Trust’'s motion for an award of

attorney’s fees and costs is denied.

4. McGinn Residence

In 2009, McGinn transferred title to his residence in Niskayuna, New York from a title
held jointly by he and his wife, Nancy McGinn, into his wife’s name alone. T.302. The
stated consideration was $1 and the transaction occurred after commencement of the
FINRA proceedings, complaints from investors, and as David Smith was transferring various
properties held jointly with his wife into her name alone. T. 301-02. The SEC contends that
McGinn’s residence remains subject to the TRO asset freeze and is included within
McGinn’s consent to the preliminary injunction at issue here. Pl. Mem. of Law (Dkt. No. 47)
at 16-17. McGinn contends that because title to the residence is now held solely by Nancy
McGinn and because she has not been named as a defendant or relief defendant, the
residence was not included in the TRO asset freeze nor in the preliminary injunction to
which he consented. Dkt. No. 71.

There exists no dispute that the residence is now held solely in Nancy McGinn’s

name. Therefore, while the SEC would appear to have demonstrated sufficient cause to
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include the residence in the asset freeze as with the Smiths’ assets transferred into Lynn
Smith’s name alone, Nancy McGinn is not a party to this action in any capacity. Unless and
until she is, this Court lacks jurisdiction to restrain her actions with respect to any property

presently titled to her alone. See NASCO, Inc. v. Calcasieu Television & Radio, Inc., 124

F.R.D. 120, 134-35 (N.D. La. 1989) (holding that court lacked jurisdiction to restrain property
allegedly involved in fraudulent transfer until question of title holder had been resolved).
Accordingly, the Niskayuna residence now titled to Nancy McGinn alone is not included
within the TRO asset freeze nor within the preliminary injunction to which McGinn has

consented.

lll. Conclusion
For the reasons stated above, it is hereby
ORDERED that:
1. The SEC’s motion for a preliminary injunction continuing the asset freeze as
to the defendants and Lynn Smith (Dkt. No. 4) is:
A. GRANTED as to all defendants;
B. GRANTED as to Lynn Smith for the Stock Account, Vero Beach
home and her checking account;
C. DENIED as to Lynn Smith for the Great Sacandaga Lake camp as to
which the asset freeze is VACATED; and
D. DENIED as to the Trust as to which the asset freeze is VACATED;

and
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2. The Trust’s motion to lift the TRO as to the Trust and for attorney’s fees and
costs (Dkt. No. 31) is:
A. GRANTED as to the TRO and the TRO is VACATED as to the Trust;
and

B. DENIED as to attorney’s fees and costs.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

DATED: July 7, 2010 :S ; ;! PJ! A
Albany, New York R

United States Magistrate Judge
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Cc: Shea, Brian <sheab@mcginnsmith.com>
Subject: RE: Transfer

Patti, | authorize the transfer.

Thank you

From: Cooper, Brian

Sent: Thursday, April 30, 2009 2:27 PM
To: PATRICIA CLEVELAND; Smith, David
Cc: Shea, Brian

Subject: Transfer

Patti, please confirm that Dave Smith received slUU,UUU in his own account and then transter from his own account

REDACTED 9965 to the McGinn Smith Operating account ™

Dave please respond authorizing this transfer.
Thank you,

Brian J. Cooper

McGinn Smith & Co. Inc.

99 Pine Street, Suite 5

Albany, NY 12207

Phone 518-449-5131 ext 232
Fax 518-449-4894

Toll Free 1-800-724-3330

ACTED

4734.

MS-E-3101383
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From: "Livingston, Thomas" <livingstont@mcginnsmith.com>

To: "Smith, David <smithd@mcginnsmith.com>

Ce:

Bcc:
Date: Wed, 25 Feb 2009 12:28:57 PM
Subject: Re today

Attachments:

Dear Dave:

I understand that the decisions that are being made today are

difficult ones. The impact of which on me personally is beyond
catastrophic. As you know I have been here for twenty two years and
through those many years we have faced many calamities. This of course

makes all of them seem insignificant by comparison. In our many
conversations over the last year I came to understand the depths to

which the firm has sunk relative to its revenue. I have attempted with
some success to develop alternative revenue sources (structured
products) and after many conversations it became clear that we needed
additional revenue producers. I have worked on that for the last 4
months and now all that work has gone away due to the financial crisis
we now face. All of this is of course moot given the firms financial
condition.

As you know from our prior conversations that I have attempted to
restructure my personal finances to reflect the realities of today. That
being said the conversation we had this morning (Mcginn, Rees and you)

has me absolutely dumbfounded. I have for these many years done what was

ever asked of me. I clearly understand the position we are in. However,
to unilaterally decide to eliminate my entire salary and put me on
straight commission is suggests that I have merited no consideration
even as a partner in the firm. This decision will quickly put me in

bankruptcy and have an enormous impact on the two young children I have

at home. I have always been a survivor and am very creative as it
pertains to generating revenue. Up and until September of last year [

was generating a large amount of revenue for the firm. As you know from
prior conversations I had the Morgan Stanley guys to my house a few
weeks ago. That business will be back. Frankly, absent the government
preferreds are the only way the backs can and will recapitalize. The
decisions being made today are decisions you and Tim have made. They
never included me a supposed partner in the firm. You never asked nor
did Tim, how will this impact you Tom? It basically says that my talents
, work, contribution are basically worth zero. I understand sacrifices
have to be made. Nobody is more willing to make them more than me.
However, I also understand that there are plenty of ways for you and Tim
to draw income that doesn't necessarily come from MS. Many of these
entities have been set up over the last few years and they never

included me. I do not have the ability to pay any of my commitments
absent remuneration. Not getting paid Friday is something I can try to
deal with but eliminating my salary completely is not only unfair it is
undeserved. We have paid people very large salaries that make very

little contribution and I have not had a say in that. I would hope that

you would reconsider this action. You and I both know that I can sell! I

MGS Email 1187890



will generate substantial revenue for the firm as I have in the past. It
is as though you and Tim are showing me the door. If that is the case
then I need to know it and take appropriate action for my families best
interest. I would hope that we could have a phone conversation to
discuss this in greater detail.

Tom Thomas E. Livingston

Principal

McGinn Smith Co., Inc.

99 Pine St.

Albany, New York 12207

(p) 518-449-5131

(N Z10Q 447 Q1R
(I)yo16-9403=-710

w

This message (including any attachments) is confidential and may be
ileoed. If ] e it <take ol 1l ]
by return e-mail and delete this message from your system. Any

strictly prohibited. Please note that e-mails are susceptible to change.
McGinn Smith Co., Inc shall not be liable for the improper or incomplete
transmission of the information contained in this communication nor for
any delay in its receipt or damage to your system. McGinn Smith Co.,
Inc. does not guarantee that the integrity of this communication has

been maintained nor that this communication is free of viruses,
interceptions or interference

MGS Email 1187891



From: "Smith, David" <smithd @ mcginnsmith.com>

To: "McGinn, Timothy <tmmcginn@mcginnsmith.com>

Ce:

Bece:
Date: Wed, 14 Jan 2009 12:55:47 PM
Subject:

Attachments:

Tim,

I need two pieces of information from you by tomorrow morning if possible:

1) current balance of Lynn"s loan-- | have a pretty good handle on this so if you are unable to get to this that is ok.
2) my value for Mr. Cranberry- this has to be quite accurate as | am meeting with my estate attorney tomorrow afternoon
and Lynn and | have to shift money arround between us, and our respective net worths are critical in determining that

number.

| also need this information for my financial statement for the insurance departments and CVoventry is crawling up my
ass.

Thanks,
Dave

MGS Email 1137816
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FINRA Dispute Resolution
Northeast Processing Center
One Liberty Plaza

165 Broadway, 27th Floor
New York, NY 10006 ~iNra ;

Email:neprocessingcenter@finra.org
—Phone: 212-858-4200
Fax;: 301-527-4873

Number of Pages including the Cover Sheet: £<

Date: 12/31/2009

Case Number:08-04924

Case Name: Duckkyu Chang, Kee Chang, et al. vs. McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc., Timothy M. McGinn, David
. L. Smith, et al.

To: David C. Franceski

Phone: 215-564-8062 Fax: 215-564-8120

From: Roy Rowsell
Case Administrator

Message:

=

31 aiesut g hiage

Cro

This facsimile transmission is intended only for the addressee(s) shown above, [t may contain information that is privileged,
confidential, or otherwise protected from disclosure. Any review, dissemination or ase of this transmission or its contents by
persons other than addressee is strictly prohibited. If you have received this transmission in error, please notify us
immediately bry telephone at the above number.

i bbind 2 102

12/31/2008 THU 14:59 [TX/R¥X MO 8333] 001

MS-E-3090541



®

Financlal Industry Regulatoty Authority

VIA MAIL AND FACSIMILE

 DPecember 31,2009

David C-Franceski, Jr., Esq.
Stradley Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP
2600 One Commerce Square

C
v
PA
3
W
=
|
T - 7 P13 S0 p b M SR U LR NS {

Philagelphia, PA 19103-7/095

Subject:  FINRA Dispute Resolution Arbitration Number 08-04924
Duckkyu Chang, Kee Chang, et al. vs. McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc., Timothy M.
McGinn, David L. Smith, et al.

Dear Mr. Franceski:

In accordance with the Code of Arbitration Procedure | enclose the decision reached by the
arbitrator(s) in the above-referenced matter,

Responsibility to Pay Monetary Award

Pursuant to the Code of Arbitration Procedure?! the responsible party must pay any monetary
awards within 30 days of receipt unless a motion to vacate has been filed with a court of
competent jurisdiction. If an award is not paid within 30 days, the responsible party must pay
post-judgment interest at the legal rate or as provided in the award by the arbitrator(s).

Tracking Payment of Award

FINRA Dispute Resolution has implemented a system of monitoring and tracking compliance with
arbitration awards by members and associated persons. We request prevailing claimants to notify
us in writing when their awards have not been paid within 30 days of receipt of the award, and
require member firms to certify in writing that they have complied with awards against them or
their associated persons,

Written notification conceming award compliance or lack thereof must be directed to:
Avichai Badash

FINRA Dispute Resolution
One Liberty Plaza

'Customer Code Rule 12804
Industry Code Rule 13904
Old Code Rule 10330(h)

Investor protection. Market integrity. Dispute Resolution One Liberty Plaza t 2128584200
Northeast Regional Office 165 Broadway f 301527 4873
27th Floor wwwinra.org
New York, NY
10006-1404

12/31/2008 THU 14:539 [TX/R¥X HO 8833] [goo2
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165-Broadway, 52nd Foor
New York, NY 10006
212-858-4325 (tel) 301-527-4739 (fax)

Expedited Suspension Proceedings for Non-Payment of Awards

Members and assomated persons who do not comply thh an award in a timely manner are

Right to File Motion to Vacate Award E

All awards are final and are not subject to review or appeal by the arbitration panel or by FINRA
Dispute Resolution. Any party wishing to challenge the award must make a motion o vacate the
award in a federal or state court of appropriate jurisdiction pursuant to the Federal Arbitration
Act, 9 U.S,C. § 10, or applicable state statute, There are limited grounds for vacating an
arbitration award, and a party must bring a motion to vacate within the time period specified by the
applicable statute. Parties and counsel should consult federal and state statutes and case law to
determine the appropriate court, standards, and time limitations in their individual circumstances.
FINRA Dispute Resolution is not authorized to provide legal advice conceming a motion to vacate.

A motion to vacate, confirm, or modify an arbitration award is a matter only between the parties to
the arbitration. FINRA Dispute Resolution is not a proper party to post-award motions and should
not be named as a party to any post-award motion. However, for cases filed on or after April 12,
2004, if the award contains expungement relief, or if a party seeks expungement relief in court,
there may be a duty to name FINRA as a party as provided in Rule 2080.

Questions Concerning Award

Please direct any questions regarding this award to me. The parties must not contact the
arbltrators directly.

Forum Fees

You will receive under separate cover an invoice that reflects the fees assessed and any
outstanding balance or refund due. Fees are due and payable to FINRA Dispute Resolution
upon receipt of the invoice and remitted to the address specified on the invoice.

Any applicable refunds will also be sent under separate cover approximately 45 days afterthe -
case closes. Pursuant to the Code of Arbitration Procedure, “Any refunds of fees or costs
incurred under the Code will be paid dlrectiy to the named parties, even if a non-party made
payment on behalf of the named parties.™

Ali questions regarding payment of fees and refunds should be directed to FINRA Finance at
(240) 386-5910.

Arbitration Evaluation

2 Customer Code Rule 12902(e)
Industry Code Rule 13802(e)

12/31/2009 THU 14:53 [TX/RX HO 8933] [F003
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process and the satlsfactnon of its chents To ensure tha’t we are meetlng your needs and

satisfying our commitment to you, we need to hear from you. If you have not already QOne S0,
please take the time to complete an evaluation of our services, the process, and the arbitrator(s)
assigned to your case. For your convenience, we have now made it possible for you to evaluate

Latahale MpImh i haw 1"t Sads YRR TR

our services using the Internet. Please direct your Web browser to
http:/iwww.finra.org/arbevaluation.

If you do not have Internet access, or have difficulty completing the evaluation form onllne, we will
a han atuation e

the address indicated below. If you need a hard copy of the evaluation form, please contact the

undersigned. Whenever possible, however, we encourage you to use the new online version, as it

will help us to review your feedback in a more expeditious manner. Your feedback Is a valuable
and necessary component in our efforts to serve you better.

Very truly yours,

Rdav n\uaall
SOy TXOWoth

Case Administrator

Phone: 212-858-5288

Fax: 301-527-4805
NEProcessingCenter@finra.org

RR:clo:LCO%A
idr: 08/25/2009

RECIPIENTS:
David C. Franceski, Jr., Esq., Thomas Edward Livingston
Stradiey Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP, 2600 One Commerce Square, Philadelphia, PA
18103-7098

David C. Franceski, Jr., Esq., McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc.

Stradley Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP, 2600 One Commerce Square, Philadelphia, PA
19103-7098

David C. Franceski, Jr., Esq., David Lee Smith
Stradley Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP, 2600 One Commerce Square, Philadelphia, PA
19103-7098

David C. Franceski, Jr., Esq., William Francis Lex

Stradley Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP, 2600 One Commerce Square, Philadelphia, PA
19103-7098 :

David C. Franceski, Jr., Esq., Timothy Michael McGinn

Stradley Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP, 2600 One Commerce Square, Philadelphia, PA
19103-7098

12/31/72009 THU 14:59 [TX/R¥ HO 89391 o004
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—Jenice L. Malecki, Esq;, Duckkyu Chang TTEE Cumbertand Pathotogy

Malecki Law, 11 Broadway, Suite 715, New York, NY 10004

Jenice L, Malecki, Esqg., Duckkyu Chang F
i ite 715 ork, NY 4

Jenice L. Malecki, Esq., Kee ijang

-~ MaleckiLaw, 11 Broadway, Suite 715 _New York, NY 10004

12/31/2009 THU 14:53 [TX/R¥ HO 89338] A 005
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Fax sent by

Financlal Industry Regulatory Authortty
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VIA MAIL AND FACSIMILE

December 31, 2009

— David C.Franceski, JrEsq.
Stradley Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP
2600 One Commerce Square

Philadelphia, PA19103-7098

Subject: FINRA Dispute Resolution Arbitration Number 08-04924
Duckkyu Chang, Kee Chang, et al. vs. McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc., Timothy M.
McGinn, David L. Smith, et al.

Dear Mr. Franceski:

An arbitration Panel issued the enclosed award ordering you, or your client(s), to pay monetary
damages or provide other relief to a party in the above-referenced matter.

Please be aware that the Code of Arbitration Procedure! provides as follows:

All monetary awards shall be paid within thirty (30) days of recsipt unless a motion to
vacate has been filed with a court of competent jurisdiction. An award shall bear interest
from the date of the award: (1) if not paid within thirty (30) days of receipt, (2) if the award
is the subject of 2 motion to vacate which is denied, or (3) as specified by the arbitrator(s)
in the award. Interest shall be assessed at the legal rate, if any, then prevailing in the
state where the award was rendered, or at a rate set by the arbitrator(s).

FINRA Dispute Resolution has implemented a system of monitoring and tracking compliance with
arbitration awards by members and associated persons. Therefore, we request prevailing
claimants to notify us in writing when their awards have not been paid within 30 days of receipt of
the award, and require member firms to certify in writing that they have complied with awards
against them or their associated persons.

Members must notify FINRA Dispute Resolution in writing, within 30 days of receipt of the
award, whether or not they or their associated persons have complied with the award. The
30-day period ends on: February 1, 2010 Associated persons who have changed employment
since the arbitration claim was filed are required to notify FINRA Dispute Resolution directly

'Customer Code Rule 12904(j)
Industry Code Rule 13804(i)
Old Code Rule 10330(h)

Investor protection. Market integrity. Dispute Resolution One Liberty Plaza t 2128584200
Northeast Regional Office 165 Broadway f 30315274873
27th Floor www.finra.org
New York, NY
100061404

12/31/2008 THU 14:59 [TX/R¥ MO 2939] @008
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Fax sent by
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55 for more lnformatlon on the no’nﬂcatlon requtrement and the sanctlons for noncompliance.

All awards are final and are not subject to review or appeal by the arbitration panel or by FINRA
Dispute Resolution. Any party wishing to challenge the award must make a motion to vacate the

award In a federal or state court of appropriate jurisdiction pursuant to the Federal Arbitration
Act, 9 U.S.C. § 10, or applicable state statute. There are limited grounds for vacating an
arbitration award, and a party must bring a motion to vacate within the time period specified by the

o | F¥
—notbe named as a party to any post-award motion:

appllcable statute Partles and counsel should consult federal and state statutes and case Iaw to

A motion to vacate, cont"rm or modlfy an arbitration award is a matter only between the partles to i
the arbitration. FINRA Dispute Resolution is not a proper party to post-award motions and should g

Please direct any questions regarding this award to me. The parties must not contact the
arbitrators directly.

Please forward any questions or correspondence conceming the monitoring and tracking of
arbitration awards and/or payment of awards to:

Avichai Badash
FINRA Dispute Resolution
One Liberty Plaza
165 Broadway, 52nd floor
New York, NY, 10006

You may also contact him by telephone at 212-858-4325, fax at 301-527-4739, or e-mail at
avichai.badash@finra.org.

Very truly yours,

Roy Rowsell

Case Administrator

Phone: 212-858-5288

Fax: 301-527-4805
NEProcessingCenter@finra.org

RR:clo: LCO9X
idr: 09/16/2009

CC:
Jenice L. Malecki, Esq., Duckkyu Chang
Malecki Law, 11 Broadway, Suite 715, New York, NY 10004

Jenice L. Malecki, Esq., Kee Chang
Malecki Law, 11 Broadway, Suite 715, New York, NY 10004

Jenice L. Malecki, Esq., Duckkyu Chang TTEE Cumbertand Pathology

12/31/2009 THU 14:53 [TX/RX HO 8938] @007
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! RECIPIENTS:
David C. Franceski, Jr., Esq., David Lee Smith
Stradley Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP, 2600 One Commerce Square, Philadelphia, PA

19103-7098
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Financial Industry Regulatory Authority
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VIA MAIL AND FACSIMILE
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David C. Franceski, Jr., Esq.
Stradley Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP
2600 One Commerce Square

Phitadelphia, PA 19103-7098

Subject: FINRA Dispute Resolution Arbitration Number 08-04924
Duckkyu Chang, Kee Chang, et al. vs. McGinn, Smith & Co,, Inc., Ttmothy M.
McGinn, David L. Smith, et al.

Dear Mr. Franceski:

An arbitration Panel issued the enclosed award ordering you, or your client(s), to pay monstary
damages or provide other relief to a party in the above-referenced matter.

Please be aware that the Code of Arbitration Procedure! provides as follows:

All monetary awards shall be paid within thirty (30) days of receipt unless a motion to
vacate has been filed with a court of competent jurisdiction. An award shall bear interest
from the date of the award: (1) if not paid within thirty (30) days of receipt, (2) if the award
is the subject of a motion to vacate which is denied, or (3) as specified by the arbitrator(s)
in the award. Interest shall be assessed at the legal rate, if any, then prevailing in the
state where the award was rendered, or at a rate set by the arbitrator(s).

FINRA Dispute Resolution has implemented a system of monitoring and tracking compliance with
arbitration awards by members and associated persons. Therefore, we request prevailing
claimants to notify us in writing when their awards have not been paid within 30 days of receipt of
the award, and require member firms to certify in writing that they have complied with awards
against them or their associated persons.

Members must notify FINRA Dispute Resolution in writing, within 30 days of receipt of the
award, whether or not they or their associated persons have compiied with the award. The
30.day period ends on: February 1, 2010 Associated persons who have changed employment
since the arbitration claim was filed are required to notify FINRA Dispute Resolution directly

"Customer Code Rule 12904(1)
Industry Code Rule 13904(j)
Oid Code Rule 10330(h)

investor protection, Market integrity. Dispute Resolution One Liberty Plaza 1 2128584200
Northeast Regional Office 165 Broadway f 3015274873
27th Floor www.finra.org
New York, NY

10006-1404
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55 for more information on the notlﬁcatlon requirement and the sanctlons for noncompllance

All awards are final and are not subject to review or appeal by the arbitration panel or by FINRA
Dispute Resoiution. Any party wishing to challenge the award must make a motion to vacate the
award In a tederal or state court of appropriate jurisdiction pursuant to the Federal Arbitration
Act, 9 U.S.C. § 10, or applicable state statute. There are limited grounds for vacating an
arbitration award, and a party must bring a motion to vacate within the time period specified by the B
applicable statute. Parties and counsel should consult federal and state statutes and case law to

A motion to vacate conﬂrm or modlfy an arbltratlon award is a matter only belween the par‘ues to
the arbitration. FINRA Dispute Resolution is not a proper party to post-award motions and should

Please direct any questions regarding this award to me. The parties must not contact the
arbitrators directly.

Please forward any questions or correspondence concerning the monitoring and tracking of
arbitration awards and/or payment of awards to:

Avichai Badash
FINRA Dispute Resolution
One Liberty Plaza
165 Broadway, 52nd floor
New York, NY, 10008

You may also contact him by telephone at 212-858-4325, fax at 301-527-4739, or e-mail at
avichai.badash@finra.org.

Very truly yours,

Roy Rowsell

Case Administrator

Phone: 212-858-5288

Fax: 301-627-4805
NEProcessingCenter@finra.org

RR:clo; LCO8X
idr: 09/16/2009
CC.
Jenice L. Malecki, Esq., Duckkyu Chang
Malecki Law, 11 Broadway, Suite 715, New York, NY 10004

Jenice L. Malecki, Esq., Kee Chang
Malecki Law, 11 Broadway, Suite 715, New York, NY 10004

Jenice L. Malecki, Esq., Duckkyu Chang TTEE Cumberland Pathology

12/31/2009 THU 14:538 [TX/R¥ MO 8833] @010
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RECIFPIENTS:
David C. Franceski, Jr., Esq., William Francis Lex

Stradley Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP, 2600 One Commerce Square, Philadelphia, PA

19103-7098
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Financial Industry Regulatory Authority

VIA MAIL AND FACSIMILE

December 31,2009

— David C. Franceski, Jr., Esq.
Stradley Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP
2600 One Commerce Square

Philadelphia, PA 19103-7098

Subject: FINRA Dispute Resolution Arbitration Number 08-04524
Duckkyu Chang, Kee Chang, et al. vs. McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc., Timothy M.
McGinn, David L. Smith, et al.

Dear Mr. Franceski:

An arbitration Panel issued the enclosed award ordering you, or your client(s), o pay monetary
damages or provide other relief to a party in the above-referenced matter.

Please be aware that the Code of Arbitration Procedure® provides as follows:

All monetary awards shall be paid within thirty (30) days of receipt uniess a motion to
vacate has been filed with a court of competent jurisdiction, An award shall bear interest
from the date of the award: (1) if not paid within thirty (30) days of receipt, (2) if the award
is the subject of a motion to vacate which is denied, or (3) as specified by the arbitrator(s)
in the award. Interest shall be assessed at the legal rate, if any, then prevailing in the
state where the award was rendered, or at a rate set by the arbitrator(s).

FINRA Dispute Resolution has implemented a system of monitoring and tracking compliance with
arbitration awards by members and associated persons. Therefore, we request prevailing
claimants to notify us in writing when their awards have not been paid within 30 days of receipt of
the award, and require member firms to certify in writing that they have complied with awards
against them or their associated persons.

Members must notify FINRA Dispute Resolution in writing, within 30 days of receipt of the
award, whether or not they or their agsociated persons have complied with the award. The
30-day period ends on: February 1, 2010 Associated persons who have changed employment
since the arbitration claim was filed are required to notify FINRA Dispute Resolution directly

'Customer Code Rule 12804(i)
Industry Code Rule 13904(i)
Old Code Rule 10330(h)

Investor protection. Market integrity, Dispute Resolution One Liberty Plaza t 2128584200
Northeast Regional Office 165 Broadway f 3015274873
27th Floor wwwi.finra.org
New York, NY

10006-1404

12/31/2008 THU 14:59 [TX/R¥ HO 8838] o112
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55 for more mformatlon orl the notn" catlon requwement and the sanctlons for noncompllance

All awards are final and are not subject to review or appeal by the arbitration panel or by FINRA
Dispute Resolution. Any party wishing to challenge the award must make a motion to vacate the

award in a federal or state court of appropriate jurisdiction pursuant to the Federal Arbitration
Act, 9 U.S.C. § 10, or applicable state statute. There are limited grounds for vacating an
arbitration award, and a party must bring a motion to vacate within the time period specified by the
appllcable statute Part!es and counsel should consult federal and state statutes and case law to

A motion to vacate, confirm, or modify an arbltratlon award is 2 matter only between the partles to
the arbitration. FINRA Dispute Resolution is not a proper party to post-award motions and should

— notbenamed as a party to any post-award motion.

Please direct any questions regarding this award to me, The parties must not ¢contact the
arbitrators directly.

Please forward any questions or correspondence concerning the monitoring and tracking of
arbitration awards and/or payment of awards to:

Avichai Badash
FINRA Dispute Resolution
One Liberty Plaza
165 Broadway, 52nd floor
New York, NY, 10006

You may also contact him by telephone at 212-858-4325, fax at 301-527-4739, or e-mail at
avichai.badash@finra.org.

Very truly yours,

Roy Rowsell

Case Administrator

Phone: 212-858-5288

Fax: 301-527-4805
NEProcessingCenter@finra.org

RR:clo: LC09X
idr: 09/16/2009
cC:
Jenice L. Malecki, Esq., Duckkyu Chang
Malecki Law, 11 Broadway, Suite 715, New York, NY 10004

Jenice L. Malecki, Esq., Kee Chang
Malecki Law, 11 Broadway, Suite 715, New York, NY 10004

Jenice L. Malecki, Esq., Duckkyu Chang TTEE Cumberiand Pathology

12/31/2009 THU 14:58 [TX/RX HO 8333] @013
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RECIPIENTS:
David C. Franceski, Jr., Esq., McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc.
Stradley Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP, 2600 One Commerce Square, Philadelphia, PA

19103-7098
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Award
- FINRADispute Resolution
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Duckkyu Chang, Kee Chang, and Duckkyu Chang TTEE Cumberland Pathology

Associates, LLC (Claimants) vs. McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc., Timothy M. McGinn, David

Smith Advisors, LLC. and McGinn, Smith Capital Holdings Corp. (Respendents)

Case Number: 08-04924 Hearing Site: Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Nature of the Dispute: Customers vs. Member, Associated Persons, and Non-Members.

REPRESENTATION OF PARTIES

Claimants Duckkyu Chang (“D. Chang”), Kee Chang (“K. Chang”), and Duckkyu Chang
TTEE Cumberland Pathology Associates, LLC (*Cumberland”), hereinafter collectively
referred to as “Claimants”: Jenice L. Malecki, Esq., Malecki Law, New York, NY.

Respondents McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc. (“MS & Co."), Timothy M. McGinn (“McGinn”),
David L. Smith (“Smith”), Thomas E. Livingston (“Livingston”), Lex & Smith Associates
Ltd. (“Lex & Smith”), William F. Lex (“Lex"), McGinn, Smith Advisors, LLC ("MS
Advisors”), and McGinn, Smith Capital Holdings Corp. (‘MS Capital”), hereinafter
collectively referred to as “Respondents™ David C. Franceski, Jr., Esq., Stradley,
Ronon, Stevens & Young, LLP, Philadelphia, PA. Previously represented by Christine
M. Debevec, Esq., Stradley Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP, Philadelphia, PA.

CASE INFORMATION

Statement of Claim filed on or about: December 22, 2008.

D. Chang signed the Uniform Submission Agreement: December 16, 2008.

K. Chang signed the Uniform Submission Agreement: December 16, 2008, -
Cumberland signed the Uniform Submission Agreement: December 16, 2008.

Joint Statement of Answer filed by Respondents MS & Co., Smith, and Lex on or about:
March 12, 2009.

MS & Co. signed the Uniform Submission Agreement: March 12, 2008.

Smith signed the Uniform Submission Agreement: March 12, 20089.

Lex signed the Uniform Submission Agreement: March 12, 2009.

McGinn did not file an Answer.
McGinn signed the Uniform Submission Agreement: August 4, 2009.

Livingston did not file an Answer.
Livingston sighed the Uniform Submission Agreement: August 5, 2009.

12/31/2009 THU 14:53 [TX/RX HO 8938] [A015
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FINRA Dispute Resolution
— Arbitration No. 08=04924

oTn

Award Page 2 of 9

Lex & Smith did not file an Answer or sign the Unitorm Submission Agreement.

MS Advisors did not file an Answer or sign the Uniform Submission Agreement.

apital did not file an Answer or sign the Uni iSSi nt.

CASE SUMMARY

< - = U z IMCHLS ] L & 1
negligent supetrvision, breach of contract, violations of industry rules, failure to diversify,
respondeat superior, breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, misrepresentations, and omissions.

The causes of action relate to unspecified private placement products, notes, and frusts.
Unless specifically admitted in their Answer, Respondents MS & Co., Smith, and Lex

denied the allegations made in the Statement of Claim and asserted various affirmative
defenses.

RELIEF REQUESTED

in the Statement of Claim, Claimants requested compensatory damages in the amount
of $2,577,000.00, commissions, interest, attomeys’ fees, costs, and punitive damages.

Respondents MS & Co., Smith, and Lex requested Claimants’ claims be denied in their
entirety. v

OTHER ISSUES CONSIDERED AND DECIDED

The Panel acknowledges that they Have each read the pleadings and other materials filed
by the parties.

Respondents Lex & Smith, MS Advisors, and MS Capital are not members or
associated persons of FINRA and did not voluntarily submit to arbitration. Therefore;
the Panel made no determination with respect to Claimants’ claims against
Respondents Lex & Smith, MS Advisors, and MS Capital.

On or about June 30, 2009, Claimants filed a Motion in Support for Default Judgment
against Respondents Timothy M. McGinn and Thomas E. Livingston. On or about July
10, 2009, Respondents filed an Opposition to Claimants’ Motion. On August 4, 2009 a
pre-hearing conference was conducted to address the Motion and the Panel, having
considered the submissions and oral arguments of the parties and after due
deliberation, denied the Motion.

The parties have agreed that the Award in this matter may be executed in counterpart
copies or that a handwritten, signed Award may be entered.

ARBITRATORS’ FINDINGS

The arbitrators have provided an explanation of their decision in this Award, the
explanation is for the information of the parties only and is not precedential in nature.
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Dr. Chang and his wife as individuals and Dr Chang in his role as trustee of
Cumberand Pathology pension accounts appear to be intelligent, accomplished people.
However the Arbltratlon Pane! finds no logical carryover from being very experienced at
sic theory or the use of Quicken software programs to
account for small-business accounts receivable and accounts payable to any ]
understanding of private placement prospectus. i

re, Mr, Lex seems to be a conscientious broker and insurance salesmanwho

is congenial. Mchn Smith & Company as the supervisor of Mr. Lex had necessary
procedures and policies in place to carry out its duties to potential customers as they 3
had standard education programs for brokers and industry-standard supervision i
procedures for individual broker accounts,

The Panel has come to a unanimous decision that there is some definitive fault by Dr.
Chang and some fault by three of the Respondents - Mr. Lex, Mr. David Smith, and
McGinn, Smith & Co. As a preface to this decision, the Panel finds there was no role by 4
wwmwﬂmm—p
finding being joint and several, and, in light of McGinn, Smith & Co. being liable, it is :
entirely a matter of the contractual ownership and employment relationship between
either Mr. Livingston or Mr. McGinn and McGinn, Smith & Co. as to any contribution
these two gentlemen may owe McGinn, Smith & Co. At the risk of being redundant, this
arbitration decision does not affect any contractual responsibility Mr. Livingston and Mr.
McGinn may have, if any, to reimburse McGinn, Smith & Co. for damages McGinn,
Smith & Co. ultimately provides the Claimants. Furtherrnore while neither party
requested any expungement action by the Panel, after a review of the entire record,
which included direct and cross-examination of Mr. Livingston and Mr. McGinn, on its
own initiative, the Panel unanimously finds, as a matter of justice and equity, that any
mention of this claim, including all allegations originating from this claim, be stricken
from alt FINRA records and those records FINRA may advise upon concerning both Mr.
Thomas Livingston and Mr. McGinn. {

The quantitative reasoning and reason for the assignment of fault is set out immediately
below.

Dr. Chang and Kee Mann Chang are found to be responsible for the consequences of
their own investment decisions after their stating repeatedly verbally and in writing that
they had the opportunity to read investment literature and query resources such as Mr.
Lex about the risks and rewards of the subject private placement notes.

The fault of Mr. Lex, Mr. Smith, and McGinn, Smith & Company is derived from the
overconcentration of the Claimants’ investments in these private placement notes.
While Mr. Lex is certainly not responsible for preventing the Claimants from investing ali
of their funds into a single instrument, Mr. Lex and McGinn, Smith & Co. through Mr.
David Smith [because Mr, David Smith oversaw Mr. Lex as the compliance officer for a
large majority of the time period in question] could have just told Dr. Chang and Kee
Mann Chang that McGinn, Smith & Co. would not play a part in these disproportionate
investment actions as they developed. Mr. Lex and/or McGinn, Smith & Co. could have
declined to conduct the sale of any more of these notes once the over-concentration
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reached a critical mass.

As to some counter-arguments presented to the arbitration Panel, the Panel finds the
line of reasoning that these private placement notes were both diversified within each
—note, and the five or more notes were separately varied so there was not concentration, |
to be disingenuous. There are about a dozen or maybe two dozen small to moderate!y
capitalized LLCs within these notes that are all either consumer service companiss like
reStdentlal alarm companies or duscret:onary-consumer goods compames like swummmg

have some selections of small, m:d and large capltallzed businesses among the number
of business areas such as some greater number of the 98 categories of businesses that

Value Line created. Another counterpoint raised in the arbitration hearing with colored
“pie-charts” depicting the percentage of the Chang’s assets that were invested in these
private placements, was that the Respondents concluded that the subject private
placement notes were only 40 to 60% of the Claimants’ total assets; this statement by
the Respondents rings hollow. Of the liquid or near liquid assets Dr. Chang and Kee
Mann Chang had these subject notes were close to 90% of thelr net worth and this

Dr. Chang 8 and Kee Mann Chang's total liquid/near llqmdassets

As to one other counterpoint raised by the Respondents in this case, the Panel finds
that the Respondents’ argument, that rescission is impossible because the “wrong”
parties were sued, to be a fiction. Even while the Respondents referenced briefly and
vaguely to regulatory prohibitions at the end of the Arbitration Hearing, this Panel finds
that it is within regulatory parameters for Mr. Lex and/or Mr. David Smith to own the
notes as individuals if McGinn, Smith & Co. believas it cannot do so. As a result of the
Panel's award being joint and several, McGinn, Smith & Co. could compensate Mr. Lex
and/or Mr. David Smith if McGinn, Smith & Co. chose to do so in the possible ownership
interest in the subject notes ordered here to be returned by the Claimants.

In determining the Award of $805,110.00, the Arbitration Panel has accounted for in a
partial rescission of the purchase of the subject notes: (1) the interest earned by the -
notes while the Claimants actually held these notes, (2) an imputed interest the
Claimants would have conservatively earned with the $805,110.00 if they had never
purchased some of these notes, and (3) there is no purposeful assault on the public
good by the Respondents so NO punitive damages are awarded.

AWARD

After considering the pleadings, the testimony and evidence presented at the hearing,
the Panel has decided in full and final resolution of the issuss submitted for
detemination as foliows:

1. Respondents McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc., William LeX, and David Smith are jointly
and severally liable for and shalt pay to Claimants $805,110.00 in compensatory
damages. Concurrently Dr. Chang, Kee Mann Chang, and Cumberland Pathology
Associates are to provide ownership rights to the Respondents of 45% of the face
value of the initial value of private placement notes as defined below.

a. Payment of $805,110.00 shall be made within 30 days of the issuance
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of thns Award and any amount pald after 30 days from the Award

Pennsylvama statutes

b. Concurrently with the payment of the full amount of funds to the
Claimants in the amount of $805,110.00, the Claimants shall sign over
to the specific Respondent party(s) {designated before hand by the
Respondents] all ownership rights the Claimants have to 45% of the
face value of the, “notes” to the Respondents [the particular private
placement notes will be chosen by the Claimants].

¢. The 45% shall be that percentage of the face value [initial purchase
value before commissions are deducted] of the total subject “notes”
value when initially purchased by the Claimants.

d. The universe of these “notes” are defined as: ail FEIN, FIIN, TAIN,
notes held by Dr. Chang on December 11, 2009; and all FAIN, FIRST
LINE, INEX notes heid by Dr. Chang’s IRA as of December 11, 2009;
and all FiIN, FAIN, FEIN notes held by Kee Mann Chang as of
December 11 2009 and all INEX and FAIN notes held by Cumberiand

e. In addltlon lf any lnterest/retum of pnnclpal of the universe of notes as
set out above occurs from the date of this Award until the funds are
actually received by the Claimants, then the amount of the
interest/return of principal shall also be returned to the Respondents
immediately.

2. The Panel recommends the expungement of all reference to the above captioned
arbitration from Respondent Timothy M. McGinn's (CRD #813935) registration
records maintained by the Central Registration Depository (“CRD”), with the
understanding that pursuant to Notice to Members 04-16, Respondent Timothy M.
McGinn must obtain confiration from a court of competent jurisdiction before the
CRD will execute the expungement directive.

Unless specifically waived in writing by FINRA, parties seeking judicial confirmation
of an arbitration award containing expungement relief must name FINRA as an
additional party and serve FINRA with alt appropriate documents.

Pursuant to the Rule 12805 of the Code, the arbitration panel has made the
following Rule 2080 affirmative findings of fact:

The registered person was not involved in the alleged investment-related sales
practice violation, forgery, theft, misappropriation, or conversion of funds.

The arbitration panel has made the above Rule 2080 finding based on the following
reasons:

The Panel has come to a unanimous decision that there is some definitive fault
by Dr. Chang and some fault by three of the Respondents - Mr. Lex, Mr. David
Smith, and McGinn, Smith & Co. As a preface to this decision, the Panel finds
there was no role.by the two individuals - Mr. Thomas Livingston or Mr. McGinn.
However, in light of this finding being joint and several, and, in light of McGinn,
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Smith & Co. bemg habie itis entirely a matter of the contractual ownershnp and

Mchn Smlth & Co as to any contnbutson these two gentlemen may owe
McGinn, Smith & Co. Furthermore, while neither party requested any

expungement action by the Panel, after a review of the entire record, which
included direct and cross-examination of Mr. Livingston and Mr. McGinn, on its

own initiative, the Panel unanimousiy fi tter i |
any mention of this claim, including all allegations originating from this claim, be B

ose records may advise upon
concemning both Mr. Thomas Livingston and Mr. McGinn. ‘

3. The Panel recommends the expungement of all reference to the above captioned
arbitration from Respondent Thomas E. Livingston’s (CRD #864264) registration
records maintained by the Central Registration Depository (“CRD"), with the
understanding that pursuant to Notice to Members 04-16, Respondent Thomas E.
Livingston must obtain confirmation from a court of competent jurisdiction before the
CRD will execute the expungement directive,

Unless specifically waived in writing by FINRA, parties seeking judicial confirmation
of an arbitration award containing expungement relief must name FINRA as an
additional party and serve FINRA with all appropriate documents.

Pursuant to the Rule 12805 of the Code, the arbitration panel has made the
following Rule 2080 affirmative findings of fact:

The registered person was not involved in the alleged investment-related sales
practice violation, forgery, theft, misappropriation, or conversion of funds.

The arbitration panel has made the above Rule 2080 finding based on the following
reasons:

The Panel has come fo a unanimous decision that there is some definitive fault
by Dr. Chang and some fault by three of the Respondents - Mr. Lex, Mr. David
Smith, and McGinn, Smith & Co. As a preface to this decision, the Panel finds
there was no role by the two individuals - Mr. Thomas Livingston or Mr. McGinn,
However, in light of this finding being joint and several, and, in light of McGinn,
Smith & Co. being liable, it is entirely a matter of the contractual ownership and
employment relationship between either Mr. Livingston or Mr. McGinn and
McGinn, Smith & Co. as to any contribution these two gentlemen may owe
McGinn, Smith & Co. Furthermore, while neither party requested any
expungement action by the Panel, after a review of the entire record, which
included direct and cross-examination of Mr. Livingston and Mr. McGinn, on its
own initiative, the Panel unanimously finds, as a matter of justice and equity, that
any mention of this claim, including all allegations originating from this claim, be
stricken from all FINRA records and those records FINRA may advise upon
concerning both Mr. Thomas Livingston and Mr. McGinn,

4. Any and all relief not specifically addressed herein, including punitive damages, is
denied,
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FEES

Pursuant to the Code, the following fees are assessed:

Filing Fees
FINRA Dispute Resolution assessed a filing fee* for each claim:

Initial claim filing fee . | = $1,800.00

*The filing fee is made up of a non-refundable and a refundable portion.

Member Fees

Member fees are assessed to each member firm that is a party in these proceedings or
to the member firm that employed the associated persons at the time of the events
giving rise to the dispute. Accordingly, as a party, McGinn, Smith & Co., inc,, is
assessed the following:

Member surcharge = $2,800.00
Pre-hearing procéss fee. = $ 750.00
Hearing process fee = $5,000.00

Hearing Session Fees and Assessments

The Panel has assessed hearing session fees for each session conducted. A session is
any meeting between the parties and the arbitrators, including a pre-hearing conference
with the arbitrators, that lasts four (4) hours or less. Fees associated with these
proceedings are:

One (1) Pre-hearing session with a single arbitrator @ $450.00 =$ 450.00
Pre-hearing conference:  August 11, 2009 1 session
Three (3) Pre-hearing sessions with Panel @ $1,200.00 = $3,600.00
Pre-hearing conferences: May 4, 2008 1 session

August 4, 2009 1 session

September 10, 2009 1 session
Twenty (20) Hearing sessions @ $1,200.00 = $24,000.00
Hearing Dates: October 12, 2009 2 sessions

October 13, 2009 2 sessions

October 14, 2009 2 sessions

October 15, 2009 2 sessions

October 16, 2009 2 sessions

October 19, 2009 2 sessions

October 20, 2009 2 sessions

December 8, 2009 2 sessions

December 10, 2009 2 sessions

December 11, 2009 2 sessions
Total Hearing Session Fees = $28,050.00

1. The Panel has assessed $14,025.00 of the hearing session fees jointly and severally
fo Claimants.
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2. The Panel nas assessed $14,025.00 of the ‘heanng session fees jointly and s

everally
1

All balances are payable to FINRA Dispute Resolution and are due upon receipt.
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ARBIT 1ON PANEL
Thamas B. Salzer - Public Arbitrator, Presiding Chairpersaon
Edward Greer - Public Arbitrator
- Kenneth J. Beahan - Non-Public Arbitrator
Goncurring i !

D s [v]
Y i il /&2 e/
Thomas E\?%‘?"/ ‘ Signature Date
Public Arbitrator, Preskiing Chairperson
Edward Greer Signature Date
Public Arbitrator .
Kenneth J. Beahan Signature Date

Non-FPubllc Arbitrator

Decembexr31, 2009
Date of Service (For FINRA Dispute Resolution use oniy)
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SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT

VA “{ THIS SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into
on this 24" day of December 200%-between Thomas E. Livingston, an individual (“Purchaser™)
and Timothy M. M¢Ginn, an individual (“Seller”).

' A3 g
WHEREAS, Seller is the owner of 100 of the outstanding capital stock of McGinn,
Smith & Co., Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) which is equal to one half of the
outstanding shares of the Company (such interest shall be referred to herein as the “Timothy
McGinn Shares™);

WHEREAS, Seller desires to sell, and Purchaser desires to purchase upon Closing (as
defined herein) 40 shares of the Company (the “Transferred Shares”) from Seller upon the terms
and conditions set forth in this Agreement; and -

WHEREAS, Seller desires to grant an exclusive option giving the Purchaser the right to
purchase an additional 20 shares of the Company from Seller (the “Option Shares™) upon the
terms and conditions set forth in the Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and of the mutual covenants,
agreements, representations, and warranties herein contained, and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties, each
intending to be legally bound, do hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
PURCHASE AND SALE OF SECURITIES

1.1 Purchase and Sale of The Transferred Shares. At the Closing (as hereinafter
defined) Seller shall sell and convey to Purchaser, and Purchaser shall purchase and accept, the
Transferred Shares, free and clear of any and all liens, except for restrictions on resale pursuant
to applicable state and federal securities laws.

1.2 Purchase Price. The purchase price for the Transferred Shares shall be Five
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($400,000) (the “Purchase Price™).

1.3 Closing. The closing of the purchase and sale of the Transferred Shares (the
“Closing”) shall take place at the offices of McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc., 99 Pine St. Albany, NY

12207 at 10:00 a.m. eastern time on A4, 2603or at such other location, date and time
as may be agreed upon between the p WY etd— ooy ~
72~

M
i W

1.4 Transactions To Be Effected at the Closing: //;



() The Seller shall surrender to the Company (acting as its own transfer
agent) for the benefit of Purchaser the certificate(s) representing the Transferred Shares (or an
affidavit of loss with respect thereto) accompanied by duly executed stock powers and Purchaser
shall deliver the Purchase Price to the Seller, by wire transfer of immediately available funds in
accordance with the Seller's written instructions provided in writing to the Purchaser prior to the

Closi.ng.

(b) The Company (acting as its own transfer agent) shall cancel Seller's
certificates and issue new certificates representing the Transferred Shares to Purchaser with the
customary securities law restrictive legend. Such certificates shall be duly endorsed by the
authorized officers of the Company.

()  Each of the parties hereto shall execute and deliver to the other parties
heteto such other documents or instruments as any party hereto reasonably requests to effect the
transactions contemplated hereby. '

(d)  Seller shall cease to be entitled to any of the benefits of ownership of the
Transferred Shares, including without limitation, any benefits under the Company’s Certificate
of Incorporation. '

1.5 The Option Shares.

(a) Grant of Option. Subject to the approval of the NASD, the Seller hereby
grants an exclusive option to Purchaser to purchase the Option Shares from Seller ("Purchase
Option"), based upon the following vesting schedule:

@) Thirty days from the submission, by the Company, of the NASD
- Rule 1017 application for the approval of the Purchaser acquiring 25% or more of the
Company’s outstanding capital stock — June 30, 2004 the Purchaser may purchase 10 shares of
the Company from Seller for an aggregate purchase price of $100,000; and

(ii)  From December 31, 2004 — June 30, 2005 the Puréhaser may
purchase 5 shares of the Company from Seller at the relevant Option Purchase Price (as
hereinafter defined); and

(iii) | From December 31, 2005 — June 30, 2006 the Purchaser may
purchase 5 shares of the Company from Seller at the relevant Option Purchase Price (as
hereinafter defined). .

(b)  Exercise and Option Purchase Price. At any time during an

exercise period for the respective portion of the Option Shares, Purchaser shall issue a notice to
Seller of his intent to exercise the option for the relevant available portion of the Option Shares
(the “Option Exercise Notice™). Along with delivery of Option Exercise Notice, Purchaser shall
include payment of the 'Option Purchase Price' (as hereinafter defined), in cash. Option
Purchase Price shall mean, an amount that capitalizes the Company at an amount equal to 10
times the Company’s net after tax earnings, as determined in accordance with GAAP, subject to
a maximum amount of three (3) times the book value of the Company for the period ending

December 31 of the previous period. 2l ﬁ: |
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(c)  Exclusive Option. Seller shall not transfer any Option Shares or any other -
without allowing Purchaser the right to first exercise the Purchase Option.

ARTICLE 2
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER

The Seller hereby represents and warrants to Purchaser as follows (Purchaser is paying
the Purchase Price and Option Purchase Price, respectively, for the respective Transferred
Shares/Option Shares in reliance upon, among other things, the representations of this Section
2)

2.1  Title to The Timothy McGinn Shares. Seller is the owner of all right, title and
interest (legal and beneficial) in and to the Timothy McGinn Shares, free and clear of all liens,

except for restrictions on resale pursuant to applicable state and federal securities laws. There are
no voting trust arrangements, shareholder agreements or other agreements, arrangements or
understandings to which a Seller is a party or to which the Timothy McGinn Shares are subject
(i) granting any option, warrant or right of first refusal with respect to the Timothy McGinn
Shares to any person, (ii) granting to any person a proxy or any other right to vote or to cause the
voting of the Timothy McGinn Shares in any particular matter, (ii) restricting the right of Seller
to sell the Timothy McGinn Shares to Purchaser, (iv) restricting any other right of Seller with

~ respect to the Timothy McGinn Shares, or (v) requiring Purchaser to become a party to or to be

bound by the terms of any agreement, arrangement or understanding with respect to the Timothy
McGinn Shares. Seller has the right, power and capacity to sell, assign and transfer the Timothy
McGinn Shares to Purchaser free and clear of any liens. The voting rights for the Timothy
McGinn Shares are equivalent to that of all other outstanding shares of the Company. Upon
payment for the Timothy McGinn Shares pursuant to this Agreement, good, valid and
marketable title to such Timothy McGinn Shares, free and clear of all liens, encumbrances,
equities or claims, will be transferred to Purchaser. :

2.2 Power and Authority. Seller has the full power, capacity and authority necessary
to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement and all other instruments or
documents executed by Seller in connection with this Agreement and to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

2.3  Due Authorization; Validity; Enforceability. This Agfeement and all other

instruments or documents executed by Seller in connection with this Agreement have been duly
executed and delivered, and constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of Seller, enforceable
in accordance with their respective terms, except as enforcement thereof may be limited by the
effect of bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting the
rights and remedies of creditors, and the effects of general principles of equity, whether applied
by a court of law or equity. ,

24  Number of Shares in the Company/Timothy McGinn Shares. Prior to transferring
any shares form Seller to Purchaser pursuant to the terms of this Agreement: i) the Timothy
McGinn Shares are the only shares of the Company owned by Seller; ii) the Company currently

g 7
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has 200 outstanding shares; and iii) all of the other shares of the Company (100 shares) are
owned by David L. Smith. '

2.5  Litigation. To the knowledge of Seller, no pending nor threatened actions, suits,
claims, proceedings, investigations, demands, assessments, audits, fines, judgments, costs or
other causes of action exist against the Company, Seller, nor any other employee, officer or_
shareholder except as set forth upon Exhibit A, attached hereto and made a part hereof.

2.6  Affiliates. Attached as Exhibit B, and made a part hereof, is a list of all other
corporations, partnerships, affiliations, companies or any other entities, etc. which the Seller
currently owns an interest, or is currently a manager, director or officer of, that conducts business
of a similar nature as Company (“Affiliates”). No current business transactions are active,
pending nor contemplated with any of the Affiliates, except as listed upon the attached Exhibit
C, which is made a part of this Agreement. '

2.7  Buy/Sell Agreement. Within ninety (90) days after the date of this Agreement,
Seller, Purchaser and Company shareholders owning more than 10% of the Company’s equity
securities shall enter into a Buy/Sell Agreement for the sale of Seller’s/Purchaser’s then current
shares to the other then current shareholders, to be funded by an appropriate level of life

_ insurance, in a form customary for shareholders of a company of the size and complexity of the

Company.

ARTICLE 3
COMPANY OBLIGATIONS

3.1  Transfer of he Timothy McGinn Shares. Immediately upon Closing,r the

Company shall take any actions necessary to evidence the sale of the Transferred Shares and
covenants to take any further future actions required to transfer the Option Shares as necessary
on the Company’s books and records, which the Company shall provide evidence of in writing to
Seller and Purchaser. '

3.2 NASD Rule 1017 Application. Immediately upon Closing, the Compan
shall use its best efforts to file with the NASD a Rule 107 Application for the approval of the
Purcahser acquiring more than 25% of the Company’s outstanding capital stock.

ARTICLE 4
INDEMNIFICATION

41 Agreement of the Indemnitors to Indemnify,

(@)  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Article 4, Seller agrees to

indemnify, defend and hold Purchaser harmless from, against, for and in respect of any and all

losses asserted against, or paid, suffered or incurred by Purchaser, or any of them, and resulting
from, based upon, or arising out of: '

@ the inaccuracy, untruth or incompleteness of any representation
and warranty of Seller contained in Section 2 of this Agreement;
K
[ Jelry
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(i)  a breach of or failure to perform any covenant or agreement of
Seller made pursuant to this Agreement or any other agreement entered into in connection
herewith; '

(iii) any and all actions, suits, claims, proceedings, investigations,
demands, assessments, audits, fines, judgments, costs and other expenses (including, without
limitation, reasonable legal fees and expenses) incident to any of the foregoing or to the
enforcement of this Section 4.1., provided, however, that Seller's liability under this section shall
be limited to the amount of the Purchase Price and Option Price paid by the Purchaser to the
Seller.

4.2  Procedures fpr Indemnification.

(@  Anyindemnification claim shall be made by the Pﬁrchaser by delivery of a
~written notice to the Seller requesting indemnification and specifying the basis on which
indemnification is sought and the amount of asserted losses. :

(b)  The Seller shall have thirty (30) days to object to such indemnification
claim by delivery of a written notice of such objection to the Purchaser specifying in reasonable
detail the basis for such objection. Failure to timely so object shall constitute a final and binding
acceptance of the indemnification claim by the Seller, and the indemnification claim shall be
paid in accordance with Section 4.2(c) hereof. If an objection is timely interposed by the Seller,
and the dispute is not resolved by the Purchaser and the Seller within twenty (20) days from the
date the Purchaser receives such objection, such dispute shall be resolved by as provided in this

~ Agreement.

(¢)  Upon determination of the amount of an indemnification claim whether by
agreement between the Seller and the Purchaser or by any other final adjudication, the amount of
such indemnification claim shall be paid within ten (10) days of the date such amount is
determined.

4.3  Survival of Representations and Warranties. All of the covenants, representations
and warranties set forth in this Agreement, and in any document delivered pursuant to this
Agreement, shall survive the consummation of the transactions provided for herein and shall not
be extinguished by the consummation of such transaction.

ARTICLE 5
GENERAL PROVISIONS

5.1  Correctness of Representations and Warranties. Seller covenants that the
representations and warranties set forth in Article 2 of this Agreement shall be true and correct

on the Closing Date. In addition to and not in limitation of any other remedies available to
Purchaser, if such representations and warranties are not true and correct on the Closing Date,
Purchaser shall have the option, in its sole discretion, not to consummate the transactions

contemplated by this Agreement.
M =
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5.2 Fees and Expenses. Except as specifically provided in this Agreement, Purchaser
on the one hand, and Seller on the other hand, each shall pay their respective fees and expenses
in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

53 Notices. All notices, request, demands, and other communications hereunder
shall be in writing (which shall include communications by telex and facsimile) and shall be
delivered (a) in person or by courier or overnight service, (b) mailed by first class registered or
certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, or (c) by facsimile transmission, as
follows:

(@)  Ifto Seller or Purchaser:

C/0O McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc.
99 Pine St.
Albany, NY 12207

- (800) 361-8150 (phone)

(b) If to Seller’s Attorney:

Gersten, Savage, Kaplowitz, Wolf & Marcus
101 East 52™ Street 9™ F1.
- New York, NY 10022
(212) 752-9700 (phone)
(212) 813-9768 (facsimile)
Attn: Jay M. Kaplowitz, Esq.

(c) If to Purchaser’s Attorney

Harris Beach LLP

54 State Street, 8th Floor
Albany, New York 12207
(518) 427-9700 (phone)
(518) 427-0235 (facsimile)
Attn: Brendan F. Chudy, Esq.

or to such other address as the parties hereto may designate in writing to the other in accordance
with this Section 5.3. Any party may change the address to which notices are to be sent by
giving written notice of such change of address to the other parties in the manner above provided
for giving notice. If delivered personally or by courier, the date on which the notice, request,
instruction or document is delivered shall be the date on which such delivery is made and if
delivered by facsimile transmission or mail as aforesaid, the date on which such notice, request,
instruction or document is received shall be the date of delivery.

54  Assignment; Binding Effect. This Agreement shall not be assignable by either of
the parties hereto without the written consent of the other party.



5.5  No Benefit to Others. The representations, warranties, covenants, and agreements
contained in this Agreement are for the sole benefit of the parties hereto, and in the case of
Article 4 hereof, the Purchaser, and they shall not be construed as conferring any rights on any
other persons.

5.6 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, all
of which shall be considered one and the same agreement, and shall become effective when one
counterpart has been signed by each party and delivered to the other party hereto.

5.7 Integration of Agreement. This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements, oral
and written, between the partles hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof. Neither this
Agreement, nor any provision hereof, may be changed, waived, discharged, supplemented, or
terminated orally, but only by an agreement in writing signed by the party against which the
enforcement of such change, waiver, discharge, or termination is sought.

5.8 Govering Law. This Agreement and all matters arising directly or indirectly
herefrom shall be construed under the laws of the State of New York without regard to conflict

of laws principles.

5.9 - Partial Invalidity. Whenever possible, each provision hereof shall be interpreted
in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but in case any one or more of
the provisions contained herein shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid, illegal, or
unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any
other provisions of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid,
illegal, or unenforceable provision or provisions had never been contained herein unless the
deletion of such provision or provisions would result in such a material change as to cause
completion of the transactions contemplated hereby to be unreasonable. :

5.10 Confidentiality. Except as required by law, this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated herein, shall not be disclosed by any of the parties hereto, without the other parties’

written permission.
pe 7,/”,,)
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IN WITNESS WHEREQOF, each party hereto has caused this Agreement to be executed
as of the day and year first above written.

SELLER:

TIMOTHY M. MCGINN

= iaa

PURCHASER:

THOMAS E. LIVINGSTON

Agreed to and accepted (only wnh respect to Section 1.4(b) 3.1 and 3.2 hereof) by the
Company:

MCGINN, SMITH AND CO.,, INC.

by LB P I

Name:_ Doyt 2. S, KL
Title; p/‘p src@u. 7( .

David L. Smith is not a party to this Agreement and executes this Agreement solely for
the purposes as set forth hereinafter:

David L. Smith 1) affirms the covenants and representations set forth in paragraphs 2.4,
2.5,2.6 and 4.3; and ii) agrees to enter into a Buy/Sell Agreement in a similar manner as set forth

in paragraph 2.7.
DAVID L. SMITH

o




Stock Repurchase Agreement

WHEREAS, Thomas E. Livingston has become a shareholder of McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc.; and
WHEREAS, McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc. is desirous of maintaining some control of its’ ownership;
IT IS HEREBY AGREED:

Should Thomas E. Livingston leave the empioy of McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc. for any
reason, either voluntarily or by action of McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc., Thomas E. Livingston
shall sell and McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc shall buy any and all interests of McGinn, Smith
& Co., Inc. then currently owned by Thomas E. Livingston. Additionally, upon
termination of the employment of Thomas E. Livingston, any unexercised options held

by Thomas E. Livingston shall expire. :

Consideration for such purchase and sale shall be the greater of either the last sale
for comparable assets, or the value of the common stock of McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc.
calculated at two (2) times book.

AGREED to this 2nd day of January, 2004:

- - A2l
By: ﬁ %\ By: ‘QQ( A
imothy M. McGinn\€hairman of the Board Thomas E. Livigfg

McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc.
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